

PROGRESS REVIEW ON THE COORDINATED IMPLEMENTATION OF THE NATIONAL NANOTECHNOLOGY INITIATIVE 2011 ENVIRONMENTAL, HEALTH, AND SAFETY RESEARCH STRATEGY

> National Science and Technology Council Committee on Technology Subcommittee on Nanoscale Science, Engineering, and Technology

> > June 2014



# About the National Science and Technology Council

The National Science and Technology Council (NSTC) is the principal means by which the Executive Branch coordinates science and technology policy across the diverse entities that make up the Federal research and development enterprise. A primary objective of the NSTC is establishing clear national goals for Federal science and technology investments. The NSTC prepares research and development strategies that are coordinated across Federal agencies to form investment packages aimed at accomplishing multiple national goals. The work of the NSTC is organized under committees that oversee subcommittees and working groups focused on different aspects of science and technology. See <a href="https://www.WhiteHouse.gov/administration/eop/ostp/nstc">www.WhiteHouse.gov/administration/eop/ostp/nstc</a>.

# About the Office of Science and Technology Policy

The Office of Science and Technology Policy (OSTP) was established by the National Science and Technology Policy, Organization, and Priorities Act of 1976. OSTP's responsibilities include advising the President in policy formulation and budget development on questions in which science and technology are important elements; articulating the President's science and technology policy and programs; and fostering strong partnerships among Federal, state, and local governments, and the scientific communities in industry and academia. The Director of OSTP also serves as Assistant to the President for Science and Technology and manages the NSTC. See <u>www.ostp.gov</u>.

# About the Nanoscale Science, Engineering, and Technology Subcommittee

The Nanoscale Science, Engineering, and Technology (NSET) Subcommittee is the interagency body responsible for coordinating, planning, implementing, and reviewing the National Nanotechnology Initiative (NNI). It is a Subcommittee of the Committee on Technology (CoT) of the National Science and Technology Council. The National Nanotechnology Coordination Office (NNCO) provides technical and administrative support to the NSET Subcommittee and its working groups in the preparation of multiagency planning, budget, and assessment documents related to the NNI, including this progress review. See <u>www.nano.gov</u>.

## **About this Document**

This document is intended to provide an overview of progress on the coordinated implementation of the 2011 NNI Environmental, Health, and Safety (EHS) Research Strategy that was developed by the NSET Subcommittee's Nanotechnology Environmental and Health Implications (NEHI) Working Group. The 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy aims to ensure the responsible development of nanotechnology by providing guidance to the Federal agencies that produce the scientific information for risk assessment, risk management, regulatory decision making, product use, research planning, and public outreach. It describes the NNI's EHS vision and mission, the state of the science, and the research needed to achieve the vision.

## **Copyright Information**

This document is a work of the United States Government and is in the public domain (see 17 U.S.C. §105). Subject to the stipulations below, it may be distributed and copied with acknowledgement to NNCO. Copyrights to graphics included in this document are reserved by the original copyright holders or their assignees and are used here under the Government's license and by permission. Requests to use any images must be made to the provider identified in the image credits or to NNCO if no provider is identified.

Printed in the United States of America, 2014.



PROGRESS REVIEW ON THE COORDINATED IMPLEMENTATION OF THE NATIONAL NANOTECHNOLOGY INITIATIVE 2011 ENVIRONMENTAL, HEALTH, AND SAFETY RESEARCH STRATEGY

> National Science and Technology Council Committee on Technology Subcommittee on Nanoscale Science, Engineering, and Technology

> > June 2014

# NATIONAL SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY COUNCIL COMMITTEE ON TECHNOLOGY (CoT)

#### SUBCOMMITTEE ON NANOSCALE SCIENCE, ENGINEERING, AND TECHNOLOGY (NSET)

CoT Chair:Thomas Kalil, Office of Science and Technology PolicyCoT Executive Secretary:Randy Paris, Office of Science and Technology Policy

NSET Subcommittee Chair:

#### National Nanotechnology Coordination Office:

Altaf H. Carim, Office of Science and Technology Policy

Lloyd J. Whitman, Interim Director Lisa E. Friedersdorf, Deputy Director

NSET Subcommittee Executive Secretary: Tarek R. Fadel, National Nanotechnology Coordination Office

### **NSET Subcommittee Participants**

#### Office of Science and Technology Policy (OSTP) Altaf H. Carim\*

## Office of Management and Budget

(OMB) Danielle Jones\* James Kim\* Celinda Marsh\*

#### Consumer Product Safety Commission (CPSC)<sup>+</sup> Mary Ann Danello<sup>\*</sup>

Treye A. Thomas\*

#### **Department of Commerce (DOC)**

Bureau of Industry and Security (BIS) Kelly Gardner\*

Economic Development Administration (EDA) Thomas Guevara\*

National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) Heather Evans\* Ajit Jillavenkatesa\* Debra L. Kaiser

U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO) Gladys Corcoran\* David R. Gerk\* Bruce Kisliuk\*

#### **Department of Defense (DOD)**

Mostafiz Chowdhury Jeffrey DePriest\* Akbar Khan\* Heather Meeks Brian D. Pate Gernot S. Pomrenke\* Lewis E. Sloter\* David M. Stepp\* Peter Vandeventer

## Department of Education (DOEd)

Peirce Hammond\*

#### Department of Energy (DOE) Harriet Kung\* George Maracas\* John C. Miller\* Andrew R. Schwartz\* Brian G. Valentine\*

#### Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS)

Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR) Candis M. Hunter

Food and Drug Administration (FDA) Jed Costanza\*

National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) Charles L. Geraci\* Vladimir V. Murashov\*

National Institutes of Health (NIH) Piotr Grodzinski\* Lori Henderson\*

#### **Department of Homeland Security (DHS)**

Richard T. Lareau Ron McNeal\*

#### Department of the Interior (DOI)

U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) Sarah Gerould\*

Salah Gerodia

Department of Justice (DOJ) National Institute of Justice (NIJ) Joseph Heaps\*

#### Department of Labor (DOL)

Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) Janet Carter\*

## Department of State (DOS)

#### Christopher M. Cannizzaro\* Ken Hodgkins\*

**Department of Transportation (DOT)** Peter Chipman\* Jonathan R. Porter\* **Department of the Treasury (DOTreas)** John F. Bobalek\*

Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) Tina Bahadori\* William Boyes\* Nora F. Savage\* Philip G. Sayre\*

#### Intelligence Community (IC)

Office of the Director of National Intelligence (ODNI) Richard Ridgley\* National Reconnaissance Office (NRO) Matthew Cobert\*

National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) Michael A. Meador\*

#### **National Science Foundation (NSF)**

Parag R. Chitnis\* Khershed Cooper\* Fred Kronz Thomas P. Rieker\* Mihail C. Roco\* Grace J. Wang\*

Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC)<sup>†</sup> Brian Thomas<sup>\*</sup>

### U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA)

Agriculture Research Service (ARS) Robert Fireovid\*

Forest Service (FS) World L.-S. Nieh\* Theodore H. Wegner\*

National Institute of Food and Agriculture (NIFA) Hongda Chen\*

U.S. International Trade Commission (USITC)<sup>†</sup> Elizabeth R. Nesbitt\*

**KEY \* Official NSET Representative** 

<sup>+</sup> Independent commission that is represented on NSET but is non-voting

# NATIONAL SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY COUNCIL COMMITTEE ON TECHNOLOGY (CoT) SUBCOMMITTEE ON NANOSCALE SCIENCE, ENGINEERING, AND TECHNOLOGY (NSET) NANOTECHNOLOGY ENVIRONMENTAL AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS (NEHI) WORKING GROUP

#### NEHI Working Group Co-Chairs:

John Howard, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health Treye Thomas,\* Consumer Product Safety Commission

#### **NEHI Executive Secretary:**

Tarek R. Fadel, National Nanotechnology Coordination Office

#### **NEHI Working Group Members**

Office of Science and Technology Policy (OSTP) Altaf H. Carim

# Office of Management and Budget (OMB)

Danielle Jones James Kim

#### Consumer Product Safety Commission (CPSC)<sup>†</sup> Mary Ann Danello

Treye A. Thomas

#### Department of Commerce (DOC)

National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) Debra L. Kaiser

#### **Department of Defense (DOD)**

T. Matthew Cho Igor Linkov Jeffrey Steevens Patricia M. Underwood

# Department of Energy (DOE)

Andrew Schwartz

#### Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS)

Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR) Candis M. Hunter Food and Drug Administration (FDA) Jed Costanza National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (NIOSH/CDC) Charles L. Geraci Vladimir V. Murashov National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences of the National Institutes of Health (NIEHS/NIH) Sri Nadadur

Christopher Weis

National Cancer Institute of the National Institutes of Health (NCI/NIH) Scott McNeil Anil Patri

#### **Department of Labor (DOL)**

Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) Janet Carter Rebecca Reindel

#### Department of State (DOS)

Christopher M. Cannizzaro

#### Department of the Interior (DOI)

U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) Sarah Gerould

#### **Environmental Protection Agency (EPA)**

William Boyes Nora F. Savage Philip G. Sayre Thabet Tolaymat

#### **National Nanotechnology Coordination Office**

Lisa E. Friedersdorf Shelah Morita (AAAS Fellow) Lloyd J. Whitman

#### National Science Foundation (NSF)

Mihail C. Roco Alan J. Tessier

#### U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA)

Forest Service (FS) World Nieh National Institute of Food and Agriculture (NIFA) Hongda Chen

#### **U.S. International Trade Commission (USITC)**<sup>+</sup> Elizabeth Nesbitt

KEY \* NNI Coordinator for Environmental, Health, and Safety research <sup>†</sup> Independent commission that is represented on NSET but is non-voting

# Acknowledgments

The individuals listed below<sup>\*</sup> dedicated considerable time and expertise to write and produce this Progress Review on the Coordinated Implementation of the 2011 NNI Environmental, Health, and Safety Research Strategy.

Chief Editor: Debra L. Kaiser (NIST)

Project Manager: Tarek R. Fadel (NNCO, contractor)

## Writing Team Co-Chairs

- Nanomaterial Measurement Infrastructure: Debra L. Kaiser (NIST)
- Human Exposure Assessment: Cathy Fehrenbacher (EPA), Vladimir V. Murashov (NIOSH)
- Human Health: Jeffrey Steevens (DOD), Christopher Weis (NIEHS)
- Environment: Alan J. Tessier (NSF), Thabet Tolaymat (EPA)
- Risk Assessment and Risk Management Methods: Carlos Peña (FDA), Treye Thomas (CPSC)
- Informatics and Modeling: Martin Fritts (NIST), Sally Tinkle (formerly with NNCO, now with the Science and Technology Policy Institute)

Additional Writing Team Members (in alphabetical order by member's last name): William Boyes (EPA), Christopher M. Cannizzaro (DOS), Altaf H. Carim (OSTP), Janet Carter (OSHA), Matthew Cho (DOD), Jed Costanza (FDA), Heather Evans (NIST), Charles L. Geraci (NIOSH), Barbara Karn (formerly with NSF), and Mihail C. Roco (NSF)

#### EXECUTIVE OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT NATIONAL SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY COUNCIL WASHINGTON, D.C. 20502

June 23, 2014

Dear Colleagues,

On behalf of the National Nanotechnology Initiative (NNI), I am pleased to release the *Progress Review on the Coordinated Implementation of the 2011 NNI Environmental, Health, and Safety Research Strategy.* 

This document was prepared by the Nanotechnology Environmental and Health Implications (NEHI) Working Group, a subgroup of the Subcommittee on Nanoscale Science, Engineering, and Technology under the Committee on Technology of the National Science and Technology Council. Over a two-year period, the NEHI Working Group surveyed and analyzed nanotechnology environmental, health, and safety (nanoEHS) research supported by the Federal Government that addressed the needs enumerated in the research strategy. The product of this effort is an extensively annotated report documenting a wide range of research activities, accomplishments, and collaborations undertaken from 2009 through 2012.

Well-coordinated nanoEHS research is essential to ensure the responsible development and commercialization of nanotechnology, a key field contributing to American innovation, advanced manufacturing, and economic competitiveness. The 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy continues to guide Federal agencies generating the scientific information underpinning risk assessment, risk management, risk communication, regulatory decision making, product manufacture and use, research planning, and public outreach. Progress in this area is essential to establishing the regulatory certainty needed for companies to bring their nanotechnology products to market, and to ensuring these products are safe for use throughout their life cycle. The Committee on Technology offers this report to the NNI's stakeholders to document the extensive, ongoing coordination and cooperation among the NNI agencies, as well as the breadth and depth of their recent nanoEHS research activities in support of the responsible development of nanotechnology.

Sincerely,

Thomas Kalil Chair, Committee on Technology and Deputy Director for Technology and Innovation Office of Science and Technology Policy

# Table of Contents

Solo

Acknowledgmentsi	v
Executive Summary	1
Introduction and Overview	3
Nanomaterial Measurement Infrastructure	6
Human Exposure Assessment	9
Human Health	1
Environment	4
Risk Assessment and Risk Management Methods 1	7
Informatics and Modeling	0
Implementation and Coordination of the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy	2
Concluding Remarks	5
Appendix A: Components of the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy	6
Appendix B: Acronyms and Abbreviations	3
Appendix C: Research Centers and Networks	5
Appendix D: References	1

# **Executive Summary**

This document provides an overview of progress on the implementation and coordination of the 2011 NNI Environmental, Health, and Safety (EHS) Research Strategy that was developed by the Nanoscale Science, Engineering, and Technology Subcommittee's Nanotechnology Environmental and Health Implications (NEHI) Working Group. Consistent with the adaptive management process described in this strategy, the NEHI Working Group has made significant progress through the use of various evaluation tools to understand the current status of nanotechnology-related EHS (nanoEHS) research and the Federal nanoEHS research investment.

Most notably, the participating agencies reported to the NEHI Working Group examples of ongoing, completed, and anticipated EHS research (from FY 2009 through FY 2012) relevant to implementation of the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy. These examples, described in this document, demonstrate the breadth of activities in all six core research areas of the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy: Nanomaterial Measurement Infrastructure, Human Exposure Assessment, Human Health, Environment, Risk Assessment and Risk Management Methods, and Informatics and Modeling. Overall, coordination and implementation of the 2011 NNI EHS Strategy across the NEHI agencies has enabled:

- Development of comprehensive measurement tools that consider the full life cycles of engineered nanomaterials (ENMs) in various media.
- Collection of exposure assessment data and resources to inform workplace exposure control strategies for key classes of ENMs.
- Enhanced understanding of the modes of interaction between ENMs and physiological systems relevant to human biology.
- Improved assessment of transport and transformations of ENMs in various environmental media, biological systems, and over full life cycles.
- Development of principles for establishing robust risk assessment and risk management practices for ENMs and nanotechnology-enabled products that incorporate ENMs, as well as approaches for identifying, characterizing, and communicating risks to all stakeholders.
- Coordination of efforts to enhance data quality, modeling, and simulation capabilities for nanotechnology, towards building a collaborative nanoinformatics infrastructure.

Extensive collaboration and coordination among the NEHI agencies as well as with international organizations is evident by the numerous research examples and by other activities such as co-sponsored workshops and interagency agreements described in this review document. These examples and activities are a small subset of the extensive research efforts at the NEHI agencies. This document addresses the NEHI Working Group's broader efforts in coordination, implementation, and social outreach in nanoEHS, as identified in the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy. As the NNI agencies sustain a robust budget for EHS research, Federal agencies will continue to invest in tools and share information essential to assess and manage potential risks of current and anticipated ENMs and nanotechnology-enabled products throughout their life cycles. The agencies will also continue to engage with the stakeholder community to establish a broad EHS knowledge base in support of regulatory decision making and responsible development of nanotechnology.

# Introduction and Overview

S

The National Nanotechnology Initiative (NNI) is the U.S. Federal Government's interagency program for coordinating research and development as well as enhancing communication and collaborative activities in nanoscale science, engineering, and technology (see www.nano.gov). The Nanoscale Science, Engineering, and Technology (NSET) Subcommittee is the interagency body responsible for coordinating, planning, implementing, and reviewing the NNI. The Nanotechnology Environmental and Health Implications (NEHI) Working Group, formed by the NSET Subcommittee in 2005, is charged with supporting Federal activities to protect public health and the environment with respect to nanotechnology research and development (see www.nano.gov/NEHI). In October 2011, NSET released the NNI Environmental, Health, and Safety Research Strategy (1) that was developed by the NEHI Working Group and hereafter is referred to as the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy. Successful realization of the vision of the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy—a future in which responsible development of nanotechnology provides maximum benefit to the environment and to human social and economic well-being—requires committed interagency implementation of the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy. To this end, the NEHI Working Group has produced this progress review of federally funded nanoEHS research. It is noteworthy that robust Federal agency participation in nanoEHS activities is reflected by the continuing strong investment in EHS research, with over \$110 million budgeted for the last several years (2) despite considerable fiscal challenges and constraints.

The NSET agencies that are actively involved in the NEHI Working Group are the Consumer Product Safety Commission (CPSC), the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), the U.S. Army Engineer Research and Development Center (DOD/ERDC), the Food and Drug Administration (DHHS/FDA), the National Cancer Institute (DHHS/NIH/NCI) and the National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences (DHHS/NIH/NIEHS) (which jointly represent the NIH), the National Institute of Food and Agriculture (USDA/NIFA), the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (DHHS/CDC/NIOSH), the National Science Foundation (NSF), the National Institute of Standards and Technology (DOC/NIST), the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (DOL/OSHA), and the U.S. Geological Survey (DOI/USGS). These agencies have nanoEHS efforts (intramural, extramural, or both) aligned with their missions. The NEHI Working Group requested that each of these agencies identify, for the period FY 2009 to FY 2012, examples of significant research activities. These examples of current, ongoing, and anticipated activities are aligned with the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy's six core research areas and corresponding research needs (RNs) as listed in Appendix A. These core research areas are:

- Nanomaterial Measurement Infrastructure (NMI).
- Human Exposure Assessment (HEA).
- Human Health (HH).
- Environment (ENV).
- Risk Assessment and Risk Management Methods (RAMM).
- Informatics and Modeling (IM).

## PROGRESS REVIEW ON THE NNI 2011 EHS RESEARCH STRATEGY

In the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy, ethical, legal, and societal implications (ELSI) of nanoEHS research are woven throughout the core research areas to inform research planning and data and product management at all levels. ELSI considerations are treated in a similar manner in this document. Examples of significant NEHI agency and interagency activities and outputs for the RNs in each of the six core research areas are described in this document; the NEHI agencies have many other research activities and outputs that are not included in this document. These six areas are strongly interrelated and synergistic, as shown in Figure 1; however, for simplicity, examples related to multiple core research areas are included under the single area to which each such example most closely pertains.



**Figure 1.** Interrelationship of core research areas of the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy. Source: Debra Kaiser, NIST. N.R. Fuller of Sayo-Art provided revised image graphics.

Consistent with the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy, this EHS research progress review utilizes two key terms: (a) *engineered nanomaterials* (*ENMs*), defined as those materials that have been purposely synthesized or manufactured to have at least one external dimension of approximately 1–100 nanometers (nm)—at the nanoscale—and that exhibit unique properties determined by this size; and (b) *nanotechnology-enabled products* (*NEPs*), defined as intermediate engineered nanoscale products, including ENMs embedded in matrix materials, that exist during manufacture and in final products. Other acronyms and abbreviations used throughout this document are presented in Appendix B.

The following six sections of this document contain illustrative examples of NEHI agency intramural and extramural research in each of the RNs for the six core research areas, with an emphasis on interagency collaborations. Collectively, the NEHI participating agencies and the academic grantees supported by several of the agencies have generated over 400 nanoEHS-related publications for the period FY 2009 to FY 2012; only a small number of these publications are referenced herein. Interagency agreements are another way to gauge the level of coordination among the NEHI

## INTRODUCTION AND OVERVIEW

agencies; CPSC alone has established 19 such agreements on nanoEHS research, some of which are noted herein. Co-sponsored workshops, joint and parallel solicitations, and jointly operated facilities are other mechanisms that demonstrate interagency coordination. Some of the NEHI agencies, individually and in collaboration with other agencies, have provided funding for the establishment of university-based centers, databases, and information platforms; it is critical that investments are made to maintain and, if warranted, grow such important entities. Two of the largest centers, the Center for the Environmental Implications of Nanotechnology (CEIN) and the Center for the Environmental Implications of NanoTechnology (CEINT), were established in 2008 and are jointly funded by NSF and EPA through NSF cooperative agreements (*3*). Research in these two centers is cited extensively throughout this document.

The section of this review document entitled *Implementation and Coordination of the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy* describes the NEHI Working Group's efforts in international coordination of NNI EHS research and standards, improvement of internal operations, support for regulatory decision making and industry partnerships, and increasing communication with stakeholders. Appendix C summarizes the scope of the nanoEHS-related research centers and facilities supported by the NEHI participating agencies, and Appendix D provides references for the specific research examples described in this document.

The NEHI Working Group recognizes the value and importance of periodic reviews of the Federal Government's nanoEHS research strategy. Reports ensuing from such reviews have been published in recent years by the President's Council of Advisors on Science and Technology (4), the National Research Council (NRC) of the National Academies (5), and the Government Accountability Office (6). This nanoEHS progress review is responsive to recommendations in such past reports and provides stakeholders with relevant information concerning the nanoEHS research and coordination activities of the NEHI Working Group and its participating agencies. It should be noted that this progress review of NNI EHS research covers the period FY 2009 to FY 2012 and was prepared prior to the September 2013 release of the NRC report *Research Progress on Environmental, Health, and Safety Aspects of Engineered Nanomaterials (7)*. That NRC report assessed progress over a brief period towards the NRC's suggested approach, whereas the present document describes specific Federal agency activities and related outcomes that address the research needs articulated in the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy.

# Nanomaterial Measurement Infrastructure

The Nanomaterial Measurement Infrastructure (NMI) core research area aims to establish a comprehensive set of measurement tools—instruments, protocols and assays, standards, benchmark data, and models—to enable accurate and reproducible measurements of ENMs and NEPs. Research is focused on ENMs with the greatest production volumes and the greatest concern for exposure and hazards, such as carbon nanotubes (CNTs) and silver and titanium dioxide (TiO<sub>2</sub>) nanoparticles (NPs), and NEPs in widespread use, including nanosilver in textiles and multiwalled CNTs (MWCNTs) in polymer composites. The five NMI-RNs described below address the full life cycle of ENMs and NEPs in all relevant media, e.g., soil, water, blood, and tissue. Considerable progress in research and interagency collaboration has been achieved over the period FY 2009–FY 2012; research examples are presented here.

# NMI-1: Develop measurement tools for determination of physico-chemical properties of ENMs in relevant media and during the life cycles of ENMs and NEPs

Physico-chemical tool development, led primarily by NIST with contributions from NIOSH, NSF, EPA, FDA, and the National Cancer Institute's Nanotechnology Characterization Laboratory (NCI/NCL), has focused on physical dimensions, surface properties, and dispersion properties of ENMs. NIST, with key contributions from NCI/NCL and NIOSH, has generated reference materials, associated protocols, and data for measurements of surface area (for nanoscale TiO<sub>2</sub>), size (for single-walled CNTs [SWCNTs] and gold NPs), and composition (for SWCNTs and catalyst mixtures) (8). Over 1,000 units of NIST's nanoscale reference materials have been sold in nearly equal numbers to domestic and international organizations, of which 45% were industrial and 43% were government agencies. Reference materials are essential for instrument calibration (9) and have been used in interlaboratory studies involving EPA, FDA, NIOSH, and NCI/NCL. Researchers from NIOSH, NIST, and other national metrology institutes have published a perspective article on reference materials for EHS measurements (10). Instrumentation advances, led by NIST, have included "hyphenated" instruments consisting of two or more coupled commercial instruments for simultaneous measurement of two or more properties, such as size and surface composition (11). NIST and NCI/NCL have jointly developed five protocols for NP size determination (12): the dynamic light scattering and atomic force microscopy protocols were the basis for consensus standards by ASTM International's Technical Committee E56 on Nanotechnology (ASTM E56) (13); and the dynamic light scattering protocol was adopted by the International Alliance for NanoEHS Harmonization (IANH) (14). Collaboration between NIST and CEINT has resulted in five protocols on the dispersion of nanoscale  $TiO_2$  in various media (15). These protocols have been incorporated into the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development's (OECD) Programme for Testing of Manufactured Nanomaterials (16). In consultation with NCI/NCL, FDA established two Nanotechnology Core Facilities: one located at the FDA's Jefferson Laboratories, the home for FDA's National Center for Toxicological Research and Office of Regulatory Affairs Arkansas Regional Laboratory, and the other at FDA's White Oak Facility (see www.fda.gov/AboutFDA/CentersOffices/OC/OfficeofScientificandMedicalPrograms/NCTR/default.htm). Since their establishment, these facilities have been used to train FDA staff and for research by FDA and NIEHS grantees; future plans include their use in collaboration with other NEHI agencies. Finally, with leadership and contributions from NIST, NIOSH, and FDA, more than 15 consensus standards concerning physico-chemical property measurements have been developed by ISO Technical Committee 229 on Nanotechnologies (ISO/TC 229) (17) and ASTM E56.

# NMI-2: Develop measurement tools for detection and monitoring of ENMs in realistic exposure media and conditions during the life cycles of ENMs and NEPs

Many of the NEHI agencies have worked on the development of tools for sampling and collecting ENMs, detecting the presence of ENMs in various media and in NEPs, and guantifying ENM concentration. In collaboration with NIEHS, NIST, ERDC, the Air Force Research Laboratory (AFRL), and private sector stakeholders, NIOSH has led an effort to develop methods for evaluating worker exposure using a multimetric approach that includes mass, particle number, size distribution, and surface area (18, 19). NIOSH also led the development and licensing of a new type of portable, directreading instrument for the detection of airborne ENMs, and it continues to evaluate the use of ultrafine aerosol sampling methods and devices to evaluate personal breathing zone exposures to ENMs in workplace settings (20). Further, NIOSH has conducted ENM air-sampling assessments at about 40 research and industrial facilities, including laboratories at NIST, NIEHS, and ERDC. ENM size, size distribution, and other exposure parameters in air have been characterized by NIOSH (21). In collaboration with FDA, NIST has developed a fluorescently labeled silicon NP reference material to be released in summer 2014 (22). Since 2011, CPSC and NIST have jointly conducted research on instruments and protocols to collect and characterize NPs released into the air by various means such as mechanical abrasion (23). Extramural research projects at universities supported by ERDC, NSF, and EPA have focused on methods for detecting ENMs in environmental media (24) and on sensor-based tools for real-time characterization of the concentration and size distribution of ENMs in such media (25). A joint solicitation by EPA, CPSC, and the UK Environmental Nanoscience Initiative has resulted in the development of methods to detect, assess, and monitor the presence of ENMs in biological and environmental samples (26).

# NMI-3: Develop measurement tools for evaluation of transformations of ENMs in relevant media and during the life cycles of ENMs and NEPs

The lead agencies conducting or funding research on ENM transformations are EPA, NSF, and NIST, with contributions from CPSC, FDA, ERDC, NIEHS, and NCI/NCL. Dissolution, agglomeration, and aggregation are the most widely studied types of transformations. Benchmark data for various ENMs in air, aqueous-based environmental solutions, and biological fluids constitute key measurements reported for NMI-3. An extensive list of publications on tools for studying ENM transformations is available on the CEINT website (see <u>www.ceint.duke.edu/biblio</u>). EPA has published results on transformations of various ENMs in air (27). Joint research between EPA and NIST has elucidated the effects of agglomeration state and dispersion of silver NPs on NP size measurements in environmentally relevant media (28). NIST has generated benchmark data on the dissolution of silver NPs in environmental and biological matrices (29) as a prelude to the development of forthcoming silver reference materials, the requirements of which were established through discussions with EPA, ERDC, FDA, and NIOSH. Several of the NEHI agencies have published studies on aggregation of various

ENMs (30, 31). FDA and NIST jointly conducted a study on absorption and conformation of bovine serum albumin on gold NPs (32). Through an interagency agreement with CPSC, NIOSH has evaluated the dissolution of silver from silver nanoparticles incorporated into commercially available textile products using artificial biological fluids and has modeled speciation (33).

# NMI-4: Develop measurement tools for evaluation of biological responses to ENMs and NEPs in relevant media and during the life cycles of ENMs and NEPs

NIEHS, NCI/NCL, FDA/NCTR, NIOSH, EPA, and NIST have collaborated with academic institutions, supported in part by NSF, and with international organizations to assess the applicability of existing toxicity assays to ENMs (*34*) and to develop new toxicity assays. These collaborations have resulted in a large number of *in vitro* and *in vivo* assays that have been used to study all classes of ENMs (including metals, metal oxides, carbon-based, and quantum dots). Notably, NCI/NCL has reported 30 *in vitro* assays applicable to multiple types of ENMs (*12*). NIST gold reference materials have been used in a number of studies to generate validated toxicity (*35*) and biological exposure data (*36*). The design of quantitative assay "arrays" with controls and quality metrics that enhance assay performance and improve robustness is an ongoing effort at NIST. Recent efforts from CPSC, in collaboration with CEINT, have focused on developing innovative tools for measuring the potential health impacts of nanotechnologies used in the flame-retardant treatment of thermoplastic- and thermoset-based consumer products (*37*). Finally, ISO/TC 229 and ASTM E56, with leadership and contributions from the NEHI agencies, have issued consensus standards concerning the biological responses of cells and animal models to various ENMs (*38–40*) (these standards can be found online on the ASTM and ISO websites by searching for "nanotechnology").

# NMI-5: Develop measurement tools for evaluation of release mechanisms of ENMs from NEPs in relevant media and during the life cycles of NEPs

With increasing incorporation of ENMs in NEPs, measurement tools are urgently needed to quantify the release of ENMs from NEPs for risk assessment and management. NMI-5 was newly defined in the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy, and NEHI agency activities in this RN have been increasing since FY 2009. NIOSH and NIST have generated protocols and data on the release of ENMs with partial funding by and in collaboration with CPSC (41–43). The primary release mechanisms in these studies are incineration (44), mechanical degradation (23), photo-induced and hydrolytic degradation (45), and consumer interactions such as spraying ENMs (46, 47) and mouthing and swallowing NEPs. ENMs that have been measured in these release studies include silver and metal oxide NPs, CNTs, and nanoclays. In the International Life Sciences Institute (ILSI) NanoRelease Consumer Products Project (48), CPSC, EPA, OSHA, NIST, and NSF have been collaborating with U.S. industry and not-for-profit organizations, and with Canadian and EU government agencies and industry, to identify and develop methods to detect, quantify, and characterize MWCNTs that are released from MWCNT-polymer composite consumer NEPs by mechanical degradation and weathering, e.g., exposure to light and water.



# Human Exposure Assessment

The Human Exposure Assessment (HEA) core research area outlines the research needed to understand the potential exposure of humans to key classes of ENMs (i.e., metal oxide, metal, and carbon-based) and NEPs. Data generated by the four HEA-RNs below will contribute to control strategies that will minimize exposures. As may be expected given their environmental and occupational safety and health missions, EPA and NIOSH are the leaders in this research area, although other NEHI participating agencies, primarily NSF, NIEHS, CPSC, and OSHA, also contribute through intramural research and external grants. Global partnerships have been formed, most notably with research groups in the United Kingdom (UK Environmental Nanosciences Initiative, <u>www.nerc.ac.uk/</u>research/funded/programmes/nanoscience) and in TNO (a Dutch nonprofit organization for applied scientific research, <u>www.tno.nl/index.cfm?Taal=2</u>). A highlight in the HEA research area is the cohort of more than 40 site investigations performed by NIOSH during FY 2009–FY 2012 (as mentioned in the NMI section) to assess exposure to several types of ENMs in various laboratory and industrial settings. Specific examples of research activities are described below for each HEA-RN.

#### HEA-1: Understand processes and factors that determine exposures to nanomaterials

EPA, NSF, and NIOSH, with mission-specific assistance from OSHA, conduct and fund activities aimed at understanding the processes through which exposure to ENMs might occur. For example, EPA and UK researchers are assessing public exposure to the fuel additive nanoscale cerium oxide (49) when it is released into the air. EPA has also developed a Comprehensive Environmental Assessment (50) tool for ENMs that evaluates exposure and hazard to NEPs. NIOSH exposure studies, some conducted in collaboration with NIEHS (51) and CPSC (33), focus on measurements in the workplace and include characterizing the determinants of exposure as they relate to processes and tasks. Predictive modeling of ENM exposures is supported by the EPA's ToxCast<sup>™</sup> Program (52) and at CEINT and CEIN, which are jointly supported by NSF and EPA. NIOSH organized a Safe Nano Design workshop in August 2012 (53) to explore the identification of design principles that would minimize exposures to and hazards of ENMs. OSHA has funded the development of a student guide on ENMs and occupational safety and health (54), and has collected a compendium of resources on workplace exposure control methods for ENMs (55). On an international level, numerous NEHI agencies, notably OSHA and NIOSH, participate in efforts to harmonize exposure measurement methods. For example, NIOSH is a co-leader of the Global Exposure Measurements Harmonization Workgroup that is developing standard operating procedures for the collection and sharing of exposure measurement methods and data for ENMs (56).

#### HEA-2: Identify population groups exposed to engineered nanomaterials

Consumers and workers are the two populations most likely to be exposed to ENMs. There are substantive efforts supported by CPSC (see the interagency agreements cited earlier) to quantify potential exposures and health impacts of ENMs in consumer NEPs. For example, silver NPs, mainly used as anti-odor and disinfectant agents, are found in aerosol sprays and textile coatings, and CNTs are used in sports equipment and in a range of materials as flame retardants (*57*). EPA was involved in the identification of potential life cycle scenarios for the release of MWCNTs from MWCNT-polymer

## PROGRESS REVIEW ON THE NNI 2011 EHS RESEARCH STRATEGY

composite consumer NEPs as part of the NanoRelease Consumer Products Project mentioned earlier. New strategies to track ENMs in the environment, including biodistribution in plant and animal species, are under development at CEINT (*58*). NIOSH and NIEHS are coordinating research on exposure and health studies in the workplace (*51*), for example, an epidemiologic study of carbon nanotube workers (*59*) that also includes preliminary work on biomarkers (*60*). Joint research at FDA and CPSC is aimed at assessing potential consumer exposures to ENMs used in commercial products that come into contact with foods (*61*). Additional efforts to detect, characterize, and evaluate ENMs released from food is being coordinated as part of the NanoRelease Food Additive Project (*62*). Research on potential exposures of consumers to ENMs released from clothing is jointly supported by CPSC and NSF (*63*). In January 2013, NIEHS conducted a workshop with participation of NIOSH, CPSC, and NIEHS-funded extramural investigators to identify research issues and promote development of sensors for personal nanoparticle exposure monitoring devices (*64*). At this meeting, NIEHS also examined the feasibility of performing epidemiological studies for groups in the general population that have been using commercially available NEPs.

## HEA-3: Characterize individual exposures to nanomaterials

NIOSH, with support from NIEHS, is collecting personal, integrated field samples to expand its knowledge of nanomaterial exposure and is developing expanded transmission electron, scanning electron, and hyperspectral microscopy capabilities to support that effort. NEHI agencies are working together to establish critical linkages between exposure characterization and fate, transport, and biological impact research. EPA and CPSC are jointly conducting research on exposure assessment of silver NPs in NEPs (*65*). EPA, NIOSH, and NIEHS have also participated in the development of globally consistent standard operating procedures for exposure assessment, notably with research groups in the UK and TNO. Research on inhalation exposures of ENMs in cosmetics has been supported by NIEHS (*66*).

## HEA-4: Conduct health surveillance of exposed populations

The exposure measurement and hazard assessment tools necessary for meaningful health surveillance of exposed populations have been the focus of several research programs, and the success of these programs is now enabling progress in the development of health surveillance methods. With input from a stakeholder workshop on health surveillance in the nanotechnology workplace (*67*), NIOSH and university collaborators have developed a roadmap towards a framework for health surveillance and epidemiology of ENM workers (*68*). The previously mentioned *NIEHS Nano Exposure Workshop* (*64*) also focused on the status of the science for epidemiological studies in populations exposed to ENMs, including the roles of physician case reports and injury and illness reports.

# Human Health

The Human Health (HH) core research area consists of six interrelated RNs that together aim to further an understanding of the modes of interaction between ENMs and human biology. The research includes investigations of toxicology, human susceptibility, and the physico-chemical properties of ENMs as they relate to biological absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion (ADME) of these materials. Efforts to identify appropriate and reproducible assays that allow reliable data generation and sharing are successfully propelling human health research teams forward. This section provides examples of research that addresses the six HH-RNs at both the national and international levels. As may be expected given their health and biology missions, NIEHS, NCI/NCL, NIOSH, and NSF are the leaders in conducting and supporting HH research, although other NEHI are strong contributors. For example, OSHA, recognizing the need to collate and organize research findings, is developing a health effects database of peer-reviewed publications across a wide spectrum of biological endpoints.

# HH-1: Identify or develop appropriate, reliable, and reproducible *in vitro* and *in vivo* assays and models to predict *in vivo* human responses to ENMs

NIEHS, NCI/NCL, NSF, EPA, and NIOSH are the primary research agencies contributing to the development of reliable assays and methods that characterize and quantify acute and chronic toxicity and link in vitro measurements to in vivo responses. NIEHS supported the Engineered Nanomaterials Grand Opportunity (Nano GO) consortium (69) involving numerous institutions for the development of standardized protocols (70, 71). A perspective article co-authored by EPA, NIOSH, OSHA, CEIN, and industrial researchers concerns the use of alternative test strategies to reduce reliance on animal testing; such strategies include in vitro and in silico methods such as high-throughput screening and computational modeling (72). Integrated testing approaches developed by CEIN are leading to highand moderate-throughput screening tools as well as guantitative structure-activity relationships and predictive models (73, 74). FDA and NCI/NCL are coordinating on safety and efficacy assessments of mission-related ENMs and nanotechnology-enabled devices. The information from such assessments contributes to the broad understanding of ENM toxicity (75, 76). At the close of 2011, NCI/NCL reported 30 assays for in vitro measurements of ENMs (12). NIOSH has developed methods for CNT and carbon nanofiber (CNF) toxicity determination (77), with broad support from NIEHS and CPSC. In conjunction with four other national measurement institutes, NIST is developing robust in vitro cytotoxicity assays and conducting interlaboratory tests on ENMs using these assays. EPA and other NEHI agencies are the Lead Sponsor or Lead Co-Sponsor for the safety testing of six ENMs in the OECD Sponsorship Programme, which includes methods to assess toxicity (78).

#### HH-2: Quantify and characterize ENMs in exposure matrices and biological matrices

NEHI agencies support research to characterize ENMs at the molecular, cellular, tissue, and whole animal levels in biological matrices derived from the skin, lung, cardiovascular system, central nervous system, and digestive tract. The quantification and assessment of ENMs includes physico-chemical property measurements (e.g., size distribution and concentration) and quantitative pathology investigations. Researchers at AFRL and NIEHS are developing quantitative analytical tools to measure

## PROGRESS REVIEW ON THE NNI 2011 EHS RESEARCH STRATEGY

key parameters of ENMs in biological systems (79, 80). NIOSH, with NIST and CPSC, has made significant advances in understanding ENMs in exposure matrices such as workplace and product surfaces and is performing relevant supporting studies in rodent models (81). EPA, in collaboration with the UK, supports academic research on the concentration, characteristics, and toxicity of particles emitted from combustion engines using nanoscale cerium oxide-doped diesel fuel (82). Collectively, these programs have advanced the quantification and characterization of exposure and exposure measurement techniques and provide the foundation for development of biomarkers of exposure.

# HH-3: Understand the relationship between the physico-chemical properties of ENMs and their transport, distribution, metabolism, excretion, and body burden in the human body

The findings on relationships between the physico-chemical properties of ENMs and their transport and ADME in the human body provide critical information about the type and extent of biological responses. EPA, NIEHS, and NIOSH coordinate research activities using comparative physiological approaches and *in vitro* methods to examine differences in the bioavailability and the behavior of functionalized ENMs in the human body (*83*). NIEHS is funding the development of biomarkers as indicators of toxicological response (*84*), as well as computational models to predict toxicity of silver and carbon nanoparticles (*85*). NSF and EPA jointly fund studies that use alternative models to determine relationships between toxicity and physico-chemical properties; one example is zebrafish assay research at CEIN on diverse ENMs such as metal and metal oxide NPs and CNTs (*86*). Scientists at AFRL use state-of-the-art physico-chemical characterization, determination of appropriate exposure protocols, and reliable methods for assessing ENM uptake and their kinetics in living organisms (*87*). NIFA supports research on the fate and transport of ingested ENMs (*88*). CEINT has published a comprehensive article on the effects of physico-chemical properties of ENMs on biological activity (*89*).

# HH-4: Understand the relationship between the physico-chemical properties of ENMs and uptake through the human port-of-entry tissues

Deciphering the process through which ENMs enter the body is critical to risk assessment and risk management, and significant research efforts by the NEHI agencies have focused on pulmonary and dermal uptake at the cellular and organ-system levels. Current efforts build on these findings and explore ENM uptake in multiple species through multiple exposure routes. For example, the NIEHS Centers for Nanotechnology Health Implications Research (NCNHIR) Consortium (90, 91) was established in 2010 to support efforts to understand how physico-chemical characteristics of ENMs influence their interactions with biological systems and how these effects impact human health. In 2012, NIEHS launched an intramural Nanotechnology Safety Initiative (92) with the goal of determining relationships of physico-chemical and toxicological properties in major classes of ENMs, e.g., metal and metal oxide NPs and CNTs. NIFA has funded research on the impact of physico-chemical properties on cellular uptake and potential toxicity of ENMs as food additives (93). FDA has joint publications on dermal penetration of ENMs with NCI/NCL (94) and NIEHS (95). While most reported toxicity studies employ an acute exposure paradigm, NIOSH is performing chronic pulmonary CNT exposure studies with post-exposure evaluation periods as long as seventeen months (96) and with endpoints in multiple organ systems including lung, heart, brain, liver, spleen, and

## HUMAN HEALTH

kidney (97). Innovative inhalation research in an academic-industrial manufacturing environment is being supported by NSF; the goal is to quantitatively assess the relationships between *in vitro* nanotoxicity and physico-chemical characteristics of CNTs and CNFs (98).

# HH-5: Determine the modes of action underlying the human biological response to ENMs at the molecular, cellular, tissue, organ, and whole body levels

Mode-of-action studies, i.e., research to understand the biological mechanisms underlying the human health response to ENMs, utilize and extend research in the previous RNs. Intramural and extramural research programs at NIEHS, NCI/NCL, NIFA, ERDC, AFRL, EPA, and NSF incorporate dose-response metrics and elements of mode-of-action research into exposure, fate, and transport studies in *in vitro* and *in vivo* systems. For example, NIEHS and EPA are collaborating on mode-of-action studies, one research area in the broader NIEHS intramural NanoHealth Signature Program (99). These programs also include fundamental studies of the molecular interactions between ENMs and biological membranes and research on ENM-protein interactions. AFRL has published research on biological responses to nanoenergetic materials such as nanoscale aluminum (100, 101). NIOSH is employing *in vitro* assays to query CNT-induced transformation of lung epithelial cells (102) and is evaluating the cardiovascular response to pulmonary exposure to ENMs, with partial support from CPSC (103). The moderate- and high-throughput screening technologies developed by CEIN and CEINT (73, 89) will be critical for understanding biological activity as well as correlating *in vitro* to *in vivo* biological responses. Another research effort supported by NIEHS and conducted at CEIN concerns the development of biomarkers as indicators of toxicological response (84).

# HH-6: Determine the extent to which life stage and/or susceptibility factors modulate health effects associated with exposure to ENMs and nanotechnology-enabled products and applications

The effects of life-stage and susceptibility factors on human health and environmental impacts of ENMs are most well-aligned to the missions of NIEHS and EPA. Several components of the NCNHIR Consortium are investigating ENM exposure during pregnancy, lactation, disease states such as asthma and emphysema, and altered physiology such as the antibiotic-treated digestive tract (*104*). EPA is supporting research to identify key factors, including environmental factors that may cause subpopulations to be more susceptible to adverse health effects of ENMs.

# Environment

The overarching aim of the Environment (ENV) core research area is to characterize the transport and transformation of ENMs entering various environmental media during all stages of ENM and NEP life cycles. Information concerning the mode of entry of ENMs into the environment; changes in composition, size, and morphology of ENMs; and the mechanisms of interaction of ENMs with both biotic and abiotic substances in the environment will enable comprehensive assessments of environmental impacts. Such assessments will yield more accurate data on exposure levels, a more conclusive understanding of the state of an ENM involved in an actual exposure, and more precise information on the location at which the exposure occurs. EPA, NSF, NIEHS, NIOSH, and NIST are the leaders in conducting and supporting research in the five ENV-RNs listed below; CPSC, USGS, and NIFA have also contributed to the ENV core research area.

# ENV-1: Understand environmental exposures through the identification of principal sources of exposure and exposure routes

Exposure identification, measurement, and modeling are essential to understanding the type and magnitude of an ENM exposure. The NSF Center for Biological and Environmental Nanotechnology (CBEN) (105, 106), CEIN (107), and CEINT (108) have addressed exposure issues through evaluation of the impact of an exposure on environmental receptors in simulated mesocosms and terrestrial ecosystems, and through the development of a web-based multimedia model of environmental release and subsequent distribution of ENMs. NIST reported the results of a pilot estuarine mesocosm study on the environmental fate of silver NPs leached from NEPs (109). EPA and CPSC have joint research aimed at prioritizing environmental exposure potential for NEPs and at estimating and predicting potential entry exposure pathways (110). A review article on potential exposure pathways for CNTs has been published by NIST (111).

#### ENV-2: Determine factors affecting the environmental transport of nanomaterials

The transport of ENMs through the environment is determined, in part, by the physico-chemical properties of ENMs and environmental characteristics. Research at several NEHI agencies has shown that the presence of natural organic matter (NOM), sulfur, and chlorides impacts environmental transport of silver NPs. For example, NIST has completed a prototype study (*112*) demonstrating the use of stable isotopes to probe interactions between NOM-coated silver NPs and a NIST estuarine sediment standard reference material (*113*).

Research is ongoing at EPA (114) and CEINT (115) to identify the factors that control the stability and mobility of ENMs in aqueous, atmospheric, and land ecosystems, including transition areas such as wetlands; metal and metal oxide NPs and carbon-based nanomaterials such as CNTs serve as the primary test materials. CEINT has reported the relationship between ENM aggregation and transport in environmental systems (116). The fate of nanoscale aluminum oxide, a material with potential widespread dispersal in soil systems, has been investigated by ERDC (117). CEINT researchers are also developing a framework for environmental ENM risk assessment that includes critical ENM–ecosystem interactions and a robust platform for modeling ENM structure–activity relationships (118).

## ENVIRONMENT

# ENV-3: Understand the transformation of nanomaterials under different environmental conditions

Research at several NEHI agencies focuses on identifying environmental processes that cause changes in aggregation state, solubility, or coating and capping of ENMs that may alter toxicity and bioavailability. For example, research studies have indicated that silver NPs in an environment exhibiting elevated concentrations of chlorides is transformed to silver chloride, a chemical form with decreased bioavailability compared to silver (*119*). Intramural research at EPA and extramural research at CEINT are ongoing to determine linkages between ENM physico-chemical properties and ENM transformations in ecosystems and to identify the factors that control biotransformation and bioavailability of CNTs and fullerenes in water and soil (*120*). Researchers at CEINT have published a review article on transformations of ENMs after they enter the environment (*121*). ERDC has reported research on the effect of organic solutes on the dispersion of silver NPs (*122*); USGS is determining the potential for dissolved organic matter to alter ENM toxicity and impact on bacteria; and NIFA is studying transformations of ENMs in soil. Research at EPA has focused on analytical approaches to measure changes in the properties of metal and metal oxide NPs in aqueous media and in water treatment processes (*119, 123, 124*).

# ENV-4: Understand the effects of engineered nanomaterials on individuals of a species and the applicability of testing schemes to measure effects

Dose–response characterization and mode-of-action studies are critical to understanding the impact of ENMs on species in aquatic, estuarine, and terrestrial ecosystems; NEHI agencies are conducting and funding research for all of these ecosystems. NIOSH, EPA, and NSF are coordinating research to develop medium- and high-throughput dose–response quantification tools that will provide data for the development of hazard ranking methods, test guidelines, and predictive models in environmental systems (74). Extramural and intramural programs funded by NSF and EPA include mode-of-action studies for model invertebrates (*Daphnia*, bacteria, insects), vertebrates (fish, mice), and plants (125). NIST has published a review article on methods to measure ecotoxicity of CNTs (126). The effects of organic carbon on the ecotoxicity of silver NPs have been reported by ERDC (127). Studies on the effects of ENMs in agricultural settings have been funded by NIFA (128). USGS has conducted research on the bioavailability and toxicity of various ENMs on flora and fauna: for example, ecotoxicity in higher plant species resulting from gallium and indium NPs released during recycling of electronic devices (129); the potential of isotopically modified ZnO NPs to serve as environmental tracers (130); and bioaccumulation, bioactivity, and toxicity of silver NPs ingested by freshwater snails (131).

# ENV-5: Evaluate the effects of engineered nanomaterials at the population, community, and ecosystem levels

Environmental research at the level of an individual within a species will critically inform research on the effects of ENMs in populations and communities. CEIN is conducting research on the effects of ENMs on reproduction, growth, and survival of organisms to predict impacts on ecosystem populations and communities (*107*). Ongoing research at CEINT focuses on bioaccumulation of ENMs in the environment and the food web (*132*). NIFA has funded a number of universities to study the use of ENMs in food and agriculture; one such study focuses on the impact, detection, and tracking of NPs

in crops and associated soil microbes (133). NSF supports research on the ecological impacts of nanomanufacturing in areas such as telecommunications, health care, energy, and security. For example, research is underway (134) to determine specific environmental impacts such as those associated with nanoscale lithium compounds discharged from batteries disposed of in landfills (135).

# Risk Assessment and Risk Management Methods

The Risk Assessment and Risk Management Methods (RAMM) core research area outlines the research needed to develop comprehensive principles for establishing robust risk assessment and risk management practices for ENMs and approaches for identifying, characterizing, and communicating risks to all stakeholders. Development of such principles requires integration of information obtained from research and related activities in the four core research areas described previously— measurement, exposure assessment, human health, and the environment—and incorporation of predictive models across NEP life cycles. A key NNI workshop that informed agency research in RAMM was the 2010 *Capstone Meeting: Risk Management Methods and Ethical, Legal, and Societal Implications of Nanotechnology (136)*. The *2013 NNI workshop on the Perception, Assessment, and Management of the Potential Risks of Nanotechnology (137)*, for which planning began in 2012, provided NEHI agencies with invaluable perspectives on the perception, assessment, and management of ENM risks. Examples of other relevant agency activities and research focused on potential risks in the workplace, to consumers, and to the environment are presented in the five RAMM-RNs listed below.

# RAMM-1: Incorporate relevant risk characterization information, hazard identification, exposure science, and risk modeling and assessment methods into the safety evaluation of nanomaterials

NEHI agencies are engaged in research and related activities to characterize potential exposures and biological impacts across the life cycles of ENMs and NEPs. For example, NIOSH has published an article that provides a state-of-the-art overview on utilizing current hazard research data and risk assessment methods for ENMs to develop and implement effective risk management guidance (138). Ongoing activities have focused on using an evidence-based strategy to develop occupational exposure limits (OELs) for various ENMs (139); OSHA has published a Working Safely with Nanomaterials fact sheet that addresses OELs (140). Additionally, a workshop entitled Strategies for Setting Occupational Exposure Limits for Engineered Nanomaterials, held in September 2012, brought together occupational health leaders from academia, government, industry, and nongovernmental organizations; the workshop report (141) was co-authored by scientists from OSHA, NIOSH, and EPA. Quantitative exposure and hazard data from all the NEHI agencies are being integrated into risk assessment models to estimate risks to public health and the environment and into in silico models that could lead to tools to predict ENM behavior across NEP life cycles. For example, CPSC and NSF are jointly supporting research at CEINT to develop risk models for human exposure to ENMs released from NEPs (37). This research effort is part of a broader collaboration involving NIST, CPSC, CEINT, and CEIN on the release, exposure, and health impacts of ENMs incorporated into NEPs and on in vitro and in silico methods that will identify potential health risks (142). A multistakeholder workshop involving some of the NEHI agencies evaluated the potential use of alternative testing strategy data (e.g., in vitro and limited in vivo data in a tiered testing scheme) in hazard assessment and toxicity prediction of ENMs (72). Other NEHI agencies such as EPA (143) and FDA (144) have targeted efforts to evaluate risk characterization information for products that may contain ENMs or otherwise involve the application of nanotechnology. Through international organizations such as OECD and ISO, NEHI agencies are partnering with countries or regions to share approaches, develop strategies, and study potential risk management approaches across the life cycles of ENMs and NEPs.

### RAMM-2: Understand, characterize, and control workplace exposures to nanomaterials

The NEHI agencies continue to develop, refine, and implement methods to measure and control occupational exposures as illustrated by the examples presented in the NMI-2 and HEA-1 sections of this document. In collaboration with several university and private sector partners, NIOSH has developed and disseminated guidance for the safe handling of ENMs in research laboratories that includes containment and control strategies (20) and published a comprehensive report entitled *Approaches to Safe Nanotechnology* (145). In coordination with CEIN, NIOSH is also compiling data on workplace and environmental exposures to ENMs and NEPs, baseline health indicators, and possible health problems of workers due to such exposures. Additional efforts focus on workplace best practices, including guidance for staff working in academic laboratories and new considerations posed by nanomanufacturing technologies. Integration of this information will support the development of prospective and systematic approaches for occupational risk modeling.

### RAMM-3: Integrate life cycle considerations into risk assessment

General insights have been gained about the use of risk assessment data across the life cycles of NEPs, largely through case study analyses that are collaborative in nature and include partners, both domestic and international, from academia, industry, and government agencies. Notably, EPA has developed a Comprehensive Environmental Assessment (CEA) approach (50) that integrates life cycle analysis, exposure assessment, hazard analysis, and risk characterization. This approach has been used by EPA in case studies on three ENMs: nanoscale titanium dioxide in water treatment and in topical sunscreens (146); nanoscale silver in disinfectant spray (147); and multiwalled carbon nanotubes in flame-retardant coatings in upholstery textiles (148). CEIN is conducting research on life cycle assessment at the nanoscale (149). One goal of a program jointly funded by EPA, CPSC, and the UK (26) is to use life cycle analyses to develop integrated models of fate, behavior, bioavailability, and effects for several ENMs over key environmental pathways. In this program, life cycle analyses are being developed for metal and metal oxide NPs and composite ENMs. ERDC is developing methods and tools to integrate life cycle considerations into assessment of the environmental footprints of ENMs (150, 151). The types of life cycle tools and information described above are being used by NEHI agencies whose missions include development and application of risk management methods. Additional work concerns the integration of toxicological characterization results on ENMs during NEP life cycles into risk assessment frameworks.

## RAMM-4: Integrate risk assessment into decision-making frameworks for risk management

Current activities focus on the collection of risk-relevant information across a product life cycle on a case-bycase basis, which is the first step in the synthesis of information for development of innovative analytical tools and risk assessment. One example is EPA's CEA approach mentioned above, which provides both a framework for systematically organizing complex risk-relevant information and a process that uses

## RISK ASSESSMENT AND RISK MANAGEMENT METHODS

collective judgment to evaluate such information for risk management planning (152). NIOSH and EPA, as part of their risk assessment and risk management tool development efforts, are jointly evaluating hazard banding as a method to categorize ENMs by hazard potential (153). Articles on the state of ENM risk management and decision making have been published by NIOSH researchers (138, 154). Other NEHI agencies, including CPSC and FDA, incorporate risk assessment approaches on a case-by-case basis when assessing products that may contain ENMs or otherwise involve the application of nanotechnology to inform risk assessment and management. Recent risk assessment activities at ERDC include the development of models based on multicriteria decision analysis and the value-of-information approach for prioritizing nanoEHS research strategies (155). Formal decision analysis methods under development include an occupational exposure band tool to assign ENMs to categories (153) and a multicriteria decision analysis tool to evaluate different risk metrics for ENMs. NEHI agencies continue to engage with stakeholders in relevant workshops (156) on risk analysis and management.

#### RAMM-5: Integrate and standardize risk communication within the risk management framework

NSF-supported research to develop risk communication models and integrate them into risk management frameworks has been conducted at large university-based research centers where risk communication is a component of larger nanotechnology research programs (*157*). NIOSH, a lead agency in integrating and standardizing risk communication information, is developing risk management guidelines for ENMs in the workplace. CPSC, OSHA, and NSF have used communication tools, guidance documents, and other publicly available documents to disseminate knowledge about products that may contain ENMs or otherwise involve the application of nanotechnology. Information on potential risks of nanotechnology has been communicated to the public at two NNI workshops (*136*, *137*). These workshops also inform agency research in RAMM. The NEHI agencies are developing methods to share early hazard information and terminology for communicating potential ENM risk assessment and management approaches to multiple stakeholders. OSHA has funded the development of a student guide on nanotechnology that includes a module on risk and hazard communication (*54*).



# **Informatics and Modeling**

The Informatics and Modeling (IM) core research area is aimed at enhancing the quality and availability of data; expanding theory, modeling, and simulation capabilities; and building a collaborative informatics infrastructure that will provide data for protection of public health and the environment as well as for research and product development. In the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy, only one RN having seven components was identified for the IM core research area, as listed in Appendix C. Recognizing the critical role of data and modeling in ENM development, the NNI agencies selected informatics and modeling as a Nanotechnology Signature Initiative (NSI) focus area (see www.nano.gov/signatureinitiatives). In May 2012, the Nanotechnology Knowledge Infrastructure (NKI) NSI was announced with the goal to "provide a community-based, solutions-oriented knowledge infrastructure to accelerate nanotechnology discovery and innovation" (*158*). Initial progress has been made across the IM research continuum; it is anticipated that research advances will accelerate as the NKI NSI matures.

# IM-1: Develop computational models of ENM structure-property-activity relationships to support the design and development of ENMs with maximum benefit and minimum risk to humans and the environment

The NEHI agencies continue to address the crucial need for a robust data infrastructure by enhancing the availability of data for ENM research and for communication of knowledge among members of various scientific communities. There are a number of federally funded databases and platforms containing information relevant to nanoEHS: the cancer Nanotechnology Laboratory portal (caNanoLab; see cananolab.nci.nih.gov/caNanoLab), Extreme Science and Engineering Discovery Environment project (XSEDE; see www.xsede.org), InterNano (part of the NSF-sponsored National Nanomanufacturing Network; see <u>www.internano.org</u>), nanoHUB (part of the NSF-sponsored Network for Computational Nanotechnology; see <u>nanohub.org</u>), Nanomaterial-Biological Interactions Knowledgebase (NBI Knowledgebase; see nbi.oregonstate.edu), Nanomaterials Registry (see www.nanomaterialregistry.org), Nanoparticle Information Library (see <u>www.nanoparticlelibrary.net</u>), and EPA's ToxCast<sup>™</sup> Program (52). These databases and platforms assist industrial and academic researchers and occupational health professionals in organizing and sharing information; developing high-throughput screening methods; and identifying structure-design principles for engineering high-performance, environmentally benign nanomaterials. It is critical that investments be made to maintain and expand these and other broadbased informational resources; such resources are critical to regulatory agencies, other agencies, and industry. CPSC and the NIH/National Library of Medicine have launched a project to add relevant health information concerning commercial household NEPs to the existing CPSC household products database (159). In 2012, this effort was expanded to include information for consumers about the uses of ENMs in NEPs and the health effects of ENMs. Finally, the three U.S.-EU Communities of Research (CORs) with an informatics focus—Databases and Ontologies, Predictive Modeling for Human Health, and Ecotoxicity Testing and Predictive Models—have been examining opportunities for common database structures, interoperability, and shared model development since their formation in 2012 (160).

## INFORMATICS AND MODELING

An overarching digital data infrastructure requires the successful integration of robust digital data, including validated experimental and modeling information. The NEHI participating agencies support research to advance knowledge of ENM structural models for risk assessment, as well as resources for improved code development and validation. For example, NEHI agencies are funding research to identify general principles that determine transport and transformations of ENMs in the environment and the effects of these two processes on organisms and ecosystems (*158*). Such information is essential for predictive environmental toxicology risk assessment. Examples of predictive modeling efforts are presented in the other core research area sections of this document.

The presence of a diverse collaborative community enhances and accelerates progress in nanoinformatics through validation of shared data and codes and through advancement in the state of the science. NEHI participating agencies are funding the development of educational and training tools for improved risk assessment. For example, these efforts would allow for facile information sharing to expedite and validate the use of nanotechnology in biomedicine or for the establishment of platforms for sharing simulations, information on leading-edge instrumentation, and design, synthesis, fabrication, characterization, and integration capabilities in nanotechnology.

S

# Implementation and Coordination of the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy

Coordination of the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy across the NEHI agencies and the six core research areas ensures integrated development and implementation of agency research programs. The NEHI Working Group, through joint alignment of research activities, has continued to actively and adaptively manage the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy. Highlights of its activities are provided here; additional information is available in the 2015 NNI Supplement to the President's Budget (2).

- Increasing agency participation in NNI EHS research. The 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy identifies research areas that agencies may recognize as aligning with their missions. The number of NNI agencies participating in the implementation of the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy has stabilized and EHS research investments have been sustained at approximately \$110 million per year, reflecting their continued high priority for the NNI. Cumulative EHS investments from 2005 through 2015 have now reached over \$900 million (2).
- Utilizing the NNI Coordinator for EHS Research. An NNI Coordinator for EHS Research, first
  named in 2010, has facilitated efforts of the National Nanotechnology Coordination Office
  (NNCO), the NSET Subcommittee, and the NEHI Working Group to leverage and implement
  the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy. For example, the NNI Coordinator for EHS Research
  initiated an informal effort within NEHI to track and plan nanotechnology EHS research
  programs on a continuing basis and has represented the NNI internationally to address EHS
  issues about ENMs and to promote international collaborations in the field.
- Refocusing the NEHI Working Group. Through consultation with agency representatives, NEHI leadership continues to adapt its meetings and discussions to optimize coordination and assessment of research to achieve the goals of the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy. These periodic interactions allow agencies to address important research needs as they arise and to continue to improve interagency communication. This adaptive management approach facilitates the assessment of the state of science and current research, as well as the development of joint projects and programs. Examples of these efforts are found throughout this EHS research progress review.
- Implementing media and networking opportunities. The NSET Subcommittee and NEHI Working Group have explored social media opportunities to improve interagency communication and stakeholder interactions. NEHI held an interactive webinar in October 2011 (161) to introduce to stakeholders the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy, a substantial revision of the 2008 NNI EHS Research Strategy. Two hundred and forty participants joined the call. NNCO utilizes Twitter, Linked-in, StumbleUpon, and YouTube to communicate new EHS information. In September 2013, the NNI hosted a stakeholder workshop (137) that focused on linkages between risk assessment, risk management, and risk communication to better understand the types of nanotechnology EHS risk information that stakeholders are interested in, and how to convey such information to stakeholders.

## IMPLEMENTATION AND COORDINATION

- Enabling a broad base of nanotechnology EHS research to support regulatory decision making. The 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy sustains a broad spectrum of basic and applied research that provides the data and information necessary for evidence-based regulatory decision making. The NEHI Working Group, meeting regularly, continues to provide a venue for research and regulatory agencies to share research developments and programs. The heightened emphasis in the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy on life cycle assessment provides a bridge between basic research and regulatory decision making. The NNI Coordinator for EHS Research and the NEHI Working Group have developed opportunities to integrate EHS approaches into other components of the NNI. For example, several NEHI agencies led the development in 2012 of the NKI NSI, which incorporates health and environmental impacts into data and model development. Another example of cross-component integration is the NSI announced in 2012 on Nanotechnology for Sensors and Sensors for Nanotechnology: Improving and Protecting Health, Safety, and the Environment, which includes development of sensors to measure releases of ENMs into air, water, and soil.
- Coordinating NEHI activities with the Emerging Technologies Interagency Policy Coordination Committee (ETIPC) Working Group on Nanotechnology. To enable information exchange among agencies on issues relating to regulatory aspects of emerging technologies, OMB's Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs (OMB/OIRA), OSTP, and the Office of the U.S. Trade Representative (USTR) established ETIPC. This committee helps ensure that Federal Government policies relating to emerging technologies—including nanotechnology—strike a proper balance between facilitating beneficial innovation and commercialization, on the one hand, and protecting human health and the environment, on the other hand. ETIPC is key to enabling responsible development of emerging technologies, including nanotechnology. ETIPC's Working Group on Nanotechnology facilitates communication among Federal agencies on many aspects of nanotechnology including regulatory developments, international information exchanges, and standards development. ETIPC has developed a set of principles specifically for regulation and oversight of emerging technologies based on the best scientific evidence (162, 163). Interactions between key members of the NEHI Working Group and the ETIPC Working Group on Nanotechnology provide an important venue for regulatory discussions, particularly those with international implications.
- Facilitating partnerships with industry. The NEHI Working Group will continue to utilize existing Federal Small Business Innovation Research (SBIR)/Small Business Technology Transfer Research (STTR) programs and to explore and develop new mechanisms for the many different types of partnerships that NEHI agencies have with industry. Examples cited earlier are the NIOSH partnership with industries to provide guidance on process-related exposures and worker protection and the NanoRelease projects. These projects provide an opportunity for industry, not-for-profit organizations, and Federal Government representatives to work together on methods to detect, quantify, and characterize the release of ENMs in NEPs (48, 62).
- Coordinating research efforts internationally. Multiple international research programs have been noted above in this document; four examples are: (a) the Joint Research Program: Environmental Behavior, Bioavailability and Effects of Manufactured Nanomaterials, co-funded by the U.S. EPA National Center for Environmental Research and the UK Environmental

Nanoscience Initiative (26); (b) the Global Exposure Measurement Harmonization effort co-led by NIOSH; (c) a formal partnership between CEINT and the International Consortium for the Environmental Implications of Nanotechnology (iCEINT) (164); and (d) recent outreach to China by CPSC (165). Several NEHI agencies also continue to participate in the OECD Working Party on Manufactured Nanomaterials (WPMN) (78) as it moves from the ENM EHS data collection phase into the data analysis phase. The WPMN program is designed to develop internationally accepted nanotechnology EHS testing protocols and harmonized regulatory approaches. NEHI agencies likewise participate in the OECD Working Party on Nanotechnology (WPN) (166), which has published several reports (167–169) with relevance to responsible development of nanotechnology. In 2010, the U.S. and European Commission initiated an ongoing U.S.–EU: Bridging NanoEHS Research dialogue, which provides an interactive platform for U.S. and EU scientists to share information on nanoEHS research interests and data needs (160) and to collaboratively advance the field. There have been three U.S.–EU: Bridging NanoEHS Research Efforts workshops (170–172) and there are currently six CORs focused on specific research areas of mutual interest.

- Supporting the development of international standards. The NEHI agencies have contributed to the substantial progress that has been made through coordinated international efforts to develop consensus standards pertaining to physico-chemical property measurements, biological property and EHS assays, nomenclature, and terminology for ENMs. The principal efforts are within two formal standards development organizations, ISO/TC 229 on Nanotechnologies and ASTM E56 on Nanotechnology. Other international organizations such as the OECD WPMN and the VAMAS Technical Working Group on Nanoparticle Populations (173) have contributed significantly to international consensus standards development efforts by conducting interlaboratory studies and identifying priority materials and desired testing end-points. As of April 1, 2014, more than 50 consensus standards have been released supporting the areas referenced above.
- Adaptively managing the NNI EHS Research Strategy. The NEHI Working Group continues to periodically review the status of nanoEHS science, progress towards achieving the goals of the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy, and stakeholder concerns. This document provides examples of ongoing, completed, and anticipated EHS research relevant to implementation of the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy.

# **Concluding Remarks**

The NEHI Working Group generated this NNI EHS progress review to document examples of nanoEHS research activities, accomplishments, and collaborations of the NEHI member agencies for the period FY 2009 to FY 2012, as aligned with the six core research areas in the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy. As demonstrated by the many examples given in this review, significant research advances have been made in all of the research needs in these six core areas. A large number of these example research activities were conducted in collaboration or coordination with at least one other agency. This review also addresses progress in the implementation and coordination of the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy and illustrates strong stakeholder and international coordination and cooperation, notably in the development of consensus standards. Some of the many benefits of this review, both realized and anticipated, are:

- Enhanced communication of research activities among the NEHI Working Group's member agencies.
- Identification of synergistic ongoing and planned activities as well as potential research gaps that can lead to new interagency collaborations and leveraging of existing agency resources.
- Informed guidance to the NEHI participating agencies in the formulation of their own intramural and extramural research portfolios and allocation of their resources, in the context of their agency-specific missions.
- Integrated development of potential new interagency initiatives or thrust areas that can provide opportunities for enhancing and optimizing agency investments.
- Communication with myriad stakeholders about agency research accomplishments and priorities and about agency implementation and coordination of the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy.
- Identification of opportunities for stakeholders to participate in or leverage ongoing or planned research of the NEHI agencies.

Nanotechnology is increasingly found in many commercial and health care applications, with new NEPs developed and marketed daily. It is of paramount importance that the Federal Government provides the tools and information required to assess and manage potential risks of current and anticipated NEPs and ENMs throughout their life cycles. This goal can only be accomplished by adaptive management of the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy to address evolving research needs; sustained and enhanced interagency collaboration and coordination; strong international coordination of research activities and consensus standards efforts; and expanded partnerships with industry. The insight and expertise of the entire stakeholder community (including, for example, representatives from industry, academic researchers, and the public) will be critical to establishing a broad EHS knowledge base in support of regulatory decision making and responsible development of nanotechnology. The NEHI agencies are committed to realizing the vision of the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy—*a future in which responsible development of nanotechnology provides maximum benefit to the environment and to human social and economic well-being*.

# Appendix A: Components of the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy

The following table lists key and subordinate research needs in the six core EHS research areas identified in the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy document.

### Key Research Needs in the Six Core nanoEHS Research Areas

#### NANOMATERIAL MEASUREMENT INFRASTRUCTURE

NMI-1. Develop measurement tools for determination of physico-chemical properties of ENMs in relevant media and during the life cycles of ENMs and NEPs

- Physical dimensions and morphology: size, size distribution, characteristic dimensions, shape
- Internal structure: atomic-molecular, core-shell
- Surface and interfacial properties: surface charge, zeta potential, surface structure, elemental composition, surface-bound molecular coatings and conjugates, reactivity
- Bulk composition: elemental or molecular composition, crystalline phase(s)
- Dispersion properties: degree and state of dispersion
- Mobility and other transport properties: diffusivity, transport in biological and environmental matrices

NMI-2. Develop measurement tools for detection and monitoring of ENMs in realistic exposure media and conditions during the life cycles of ENMs and NEPs

- Sampling and collection of ENMs
- Detecting the presence of ENMs
- Quantity of ENMs—concentration based on surface area, mass, and number concentrations
- Size and size distribution of ENMs
- Spatial distribution of ENMs
- Discriminating ENMs from ambient NMs such as combustion products and welding fumes
- Discriminating multiple types of ENMs such as metals and metal oxides

NMI-3. Develop measurement tools for evaluation of transformations of ENMs in relevant media and during the life cycles of ENMs and NEPs

- Agglomeration and de-agglomeration
- Dissolution and solubility
- Adsorption of natural organic matter and bioconstituents
- Oxidation and reduction
- Deposition of ENMs on surfaces

# NMI-4. Develop measurement tools for evaluation of biological responses to ENMs and NEPs in relevant media and during the life cycles of ENMs and NEPs

- Adequacy of existing assays
- New assays or high-throughput, high content assays
- Correlation of biological responses with physico-chemical properties
- Surface reactivity at the interface between ENM and biological receptors
- Biomarkers of toxicological response

# NMI-5. Develop measurement tools for evaluation of release mechanisms of ENMs from NEPs in relevant media and during the life cycles of NEPs

- Release by fire, combustion, and incineration
- Release by mechanical degradation, such as abrasion, deformation, and impact
- Release by dissolution of matrix material
- Release by chemical reactions of the matrix material
- Release by photo-induced degradation of the matrix material
- Release by consumer interactions, such as spraying, mouthing, and swallowing
- Release by interactions with biological organisms in the environment

#### HUMAN EXPOSURE ASSESSMENT

#### HEA-1. Understand processes and factors that determine exposures to nanomaterials

- Conduct studies to understand processes and factors that determine exposure to engineered nanomaterials
- Develop exposure classifications of nanomaterials and processes
- Develop internationally harmonized and validated protocols for exposure surveys, sample collection and analysis, and reporting through existing and newly created international frameworks
- Develop comprehensive predictive models for exposures to a broad range of engineered nanomaterials and processes
- Characterize process- and task-specific exposure scenarios in the workplace

### HEA-2. Identify population groups exposed to engineered nanomaterials

- Systematically collect and analyze information about nanomaterial manufacture, processing, and direct use in commercial and consumer products over time to discern geographic areas where engineered nanomaterials may be emitted into the environment, consumed in the form of ingredients of products, and/or disposed of in solid waste, wastewater, etc.
- Conduct population-based surveys to obtain information on use patterns for consumer products
- Identify potential subpopulations that are more susceptible to exposure to engineered nanomaterials than others
- Develop quantitative assessment methods appropriate for target population groups and conduct assessments of those population groups most likely to be exposed to engineered nanomaterials

## HEA-3. Characterize individual exposures to nanomaterials

- Expand currently available exposure assessment techniques to facilitate more accurate exposure assessment for engineered nanomaterials at benchmark concentration levels using feasible methods
- Develop new tools through national and international surveys to support effective exposure characterization of individuals
- Characterize and detect nanomaterials in biological matrices and conduct studies to understand transformations of nanomaterials during transport in the environment and in human bodies
- Conduct studies to examine emissions and human contact during normal use and after wear and tear have degraded a product, as well as during repeated exposures
- Develop engineered nanomaterials exposure assessment models based on identified critical exposure
- Develop databases to contain the collected data and information

## HEA-4. Conduct health surveillance of exposed populations

- Establish a program for the epidemiological investigation of physician case reports and reports of suspicious patterns of adverse events
- Establish exposure registry and medical surveillance programs for workers
- Analyze injury and illness reporting in existing programs

## HUMAN HEALTH

HH-1. Identify or develop appropriate, reliable, and reproducible *in vitro* and *in vivo* assays and models to predict *in vivo* human responses to ENMs

- Establish a system to develop and apply reliable and reproducible *in vitro* and *in vivo* test methods
- Evaluate the degree to which an *in vitro* response correlates with an *in vivo* response
- Evaluate the degree to which *in vitro* and *in vivo* models predict human response
- Translate structure–activity relationship and other research data into computational models to predict toxicity *in silico*

## HH-2. Quantify and characterize ENMs in exposure matrices and biological matrices

- Determine critical ENM measurands in biological and environmental matrices and ensure the development of tools to measure ENMs in appropriate matrices as needed
- Determine matrix and/or weathering effects which may alter the physico-chemical characteristics of the ENM measurands
- Identify key factors that may influence the detection of each measurand in a particular matrix (e.g., sample preparation, detection method, storage, temperature, solvents/solutions)
- Characterize and quantify exposure for all exposure routes using *in vivo* models to identify the most likely routes of human exposure
- Identify biomarkers of exposure and analytical methods for their determination

HH-3. Understand the relationship between the physico-chemical properties of ENMs and their transport, distribution, metabolism, excretion, and body burden in the human body Characterize ENM physico-chemical properties and link to mechanisms of transport and distribution in the human body Understand the relationship of the physico-chemical properties of ENMs to the mechanisms of • sequestration in and translocation of ENMs out of the exposure organ and secondary organs, and to routes of excretion from the human body Determine the metabolism or biological transformation of ENMs in the human body • HH-4. Understand the relationship between the physico-chemical properties of ENMs and uptake through the human port-of-entry tissues Characterize ENMs at and in port-of-entry tissues, including nontraditional routes of entry such as the ear and eye, and identify mechanisms of ENM uptake into tissues Determine the relationship of ENM physico-chemical properties to deposition and uptake • under acute exposure conditions and under chronic exposure conditions Translate data on ENM properties and uptake to knowledge that may be used to intentionally • redesign ENMs for optimum human and environmental safety and product efficacy HH-5. Determine the modes of action underlying the human biological response to ENMs at the molecular, cellular, tissue, organ, and whole body levels Determine the response and time course of biological responses at the primary site of exposure and at distal organs following ENM exposure Understand the mechanisms and molecular pathway(s) associated with ENM biology within • cellular, organ, and whole organism systems Link mechanisms of response with ENM physico-chemical properties and employ this • information in the design and development of future ENMs Develop translational alternative in vitro testing methods for the rapid screening of future ENMs based on mechanism(s) of response that are predictive of *in vivo* biological responses HH-6. Determine the extent to which life stage and/or susceptibility factors modulate health effects associated with exposure to ENMs and nanotechnology-enabled products and applications Determine the effect of life stage and/or gender on biological response to ENMs Establish the role of genetic and epigenetic susceptibility on the biological response to ENMs in the context of life stage and/or susceptibility factors Understand mechanistically the influence of preexisting disease on the biological response to • ENMs in the context of life stage and other susceptibility factors Identify exposure conditions that make susceptible individuals more vulnerable to the health effects associated with ENMs and nanotechnology-enabled applications Establish a database that contains published, peer-reviewed literature, occupational and • consumer reports, and toxicological profiles that describe altered responses to ENMs and nanotechnology-enabled applications in susceptible animal models or individuals following exposure

ENVIRONMENT		
ENV-1. Understand environmental exposures through the identification of principal sources of exposure and exposure routes		
Manufacturing processes and product incorporation		
<ul> <li>Life cycle of technology and exposures subsequent to product manufacturing</li> </ul>		
<ul> <li>Analytical approaches to measure temporal changes in nanoparticle properties throughout the life cycle</li> </ul>		
Models to estimate releases		
Environmental receptors for exposure assessment		
ENV-2. Determine factors affecting the environmental transport of nanomaterials		
<ul> <li>Determine key physico-chemical properties affecting transport</li> </ul>		
<ul> <li>Determine key transport and fate processes relevant to environmental media</li> </ul>		
<ul> <li>Develop new tools and adaptation of current predictive tools to accommodate unique</li> </ul>		
properties of nanomaterials		
ENV-3. Understand the transformation of nanomaterials under different environmental conditions		
Identify and evaluate nanomaterial properties and transformation processes that will reduce		
environmental persistence, toxicity, and production of toxic products		
Determine the rate of aggregation and long-term stability of agglomeration/aggregation and		
the long-term stability of these aggregates and agglomerates		
<ul> <li>Develop tools to predict the transformations or degradability of nanomaterials</li> </ul>		
ENV-4. Understand the effects of engineered nanomaterials on individuals of a species and the applicability of testing schemes to measure effects		
Test protocols		
Dose-response characterization		
<ul> <li>Uptake/elimination kinetics, tissue/organ distribution</li> </ul>		
Mode/mechanism of action, predictive tools		
Tiered testing schemes/environmental realism		
ENV-5. Evaluate the effects of engineered nanomaterials at the population, community, and ecosystem levels		
Population		
Community		

- Other ecosystem-level effects
- Predictive tools for population-, community-, and ecosystem-level effects

### RISK ASSESSMENT AND RISK MANAGEMENT METHODS

# RAMM-1. Incorporate relevant risk characterization information, hazard identification, exposure science, and risk modeling and methods into the safety evaluation of nanomaterials

- Characterization, fate, and release of nanoparticles throughout the life cycles of nanotechnology-enabled products
- Development of predictive models on accumulation, migration, and release of nanoparticles throughout the life cycles of nanotechnology-enabled products
- Safety of nanoparticles throughout the life cycles of the nanotechnology-enabled products
- Comprehensive and predictive models to assess the potential risks of nanoparticles during the manufacturing and life cycle of nanoproducts, with inputs from human and environment exposures and material properties

## RAMM-2. Understand, characterize, and control workplace exposures to nanomaterials

- Dissemination and implementation of effective techniques and protocols to measure exposures in the workplace
- Identification and demonstration of effective containment and control technologies including for accidents and spills
- Development of an effective industry surveillance system
- Design and deployment of a prospective epidemiological framework relevant to exposure science
- Systematic approaches for occupational risk modeling

## RAMM-3. Integrate life cycle considerations into risk assessment

- Establishment of nanotechnology-specific taxonomy for life cycle stages
- Integration of risk assessment, life cycle analyses, and decision-making approaches into regulatory decision making processes
- Application of adaptive management tools based on monitoring/implementation to evaluate life cycle analysis implementation
- Development of case studies, e.g., green chemistry, nanomaterials selection, nanomaterials acquisition process, illustrating application of these risk management methods

## RAMM-4. Integrate risk assessment into decision-making frameworks for risk management

- Development of comparative risk assessment and formal decision-analytical methods operating across multiple metrics as opposed to "absolute" risk assessment strategies
- Application of formal decision-analytical methods (e.g., multi-criteria decision analysis) to prioritize risk management alternatives
- Use of gap analyses and value of information analysis to identify research needs
- Integration of stakeholder values and risk perceptions into risk management processes
- Application of integrated decision framework through case studies in risk management decision making

RAMM-5. Integrate and standardize risk communication within the risk management framework

- Development and use of standardized terminology in risk communications
- Early information-sharing on hazards and risk among Federal agencies
- Development of appropriate risk communication approaches for agency-specific needs

### INFORMATICS AND MODELING

(Note that in the 2011 NNI EHS Research Strategy, only one research needs category was identified.)

IM-1. Develop computational models of ENM structure–property–activity relationships to support the design and development of ENM with maximum benefit and minimum risk to humans and the environment

- Validate the predictive capability of *in vitro* and *in vivo* assays and employ that subset of assays in data generation to establish computational models to predict ENM behavior in humans and the environment
- Establish a standard set of physical and chemical characterization parameters, dose metrics, and biological response metrics
- Design and establish structures and ontologies for methods development, data capture, sharing, and analysis
- Evaluate and adapt as necessary existing computational models by beginning with existing models for exposure and dosimetry and using data generated from validated assays
- Use ENM exposure and dosimetry models to develop ENM structure-activity models to predict ENM behavior in humans and the environment
- Establish training sets and beta test sites to refine and validate ENM structure-activity models
- Disseminate ENM structure-activity models through publicly accessible nanotechnology websites



# **Appendix B: Acronyms and Abbreviations**

ADME	absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion
AFRL	Air Force Research Laboratory
ASTM E56	ASTM International's Technical Committee E56 on Nanotechnology
CEA	Comprehensive Environmental Assessment
CEIN	Center for Environmental Implications of Nanotechnology (NSF, EPA) headquartered at the University of California, Los Angeles
CEINT	Center for Environmental Implications of NanoTechnology (NSF, EPA) headquartered at Duke University
CNF	carbon nanofiber
CNT	carbon nanotube
COR	community of research
CPSC	Consumer Product Safety Commission
DHHS	Department of Health and Human Services
DOC	Department of Commerce
DOD	Department of Defense
DOE	Department of Energy
DOI	Department of the Interior
DOL	Department of Labor
EHS	environment(al), health, and safety
ELSI	ethical, legal, and societal implications (of nanotechnology)
ENM	engineered nanomaterial
ENV	Environment core research area
EPA	Environmental Protection Agency
ERDC	Engineer Research and Development Center (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers)
EU	European Union
FDA	Food and Drug Administration (DHHS)
FY	fiscal year
HEA	Human Exposure Assessment core research area
HH	Human Health core research area
IM	Informatics and Modeling core research area
ISO	International Organization for Standardization
ISO/TC 229	ISO's Technical Committee 229 on Nanotechnologies
MWCNT	multiwalled carbon nanotube
nanoEHS	nanotechnology-related environment(al), health, and safety
NCI	National Cancer Institute (DHHS/NIH)

# PROGRESS REVIEW ON THE NNI 2011 EHS RESEARCH STRATEGY

NCL	Nanotechnology Characterization Laboratory (DHHS/NIH/NCI)
NCNHIR	NIEHS Centers for Nanotechnology Health Implications Research (Consortium)
NCTR	National Center for Toxicological Research (FDA)
NEHI	Nanotechnology Environmental and Health Implications Working Group (NSET)
NEP	nanotechnology-enabled product
NIEHS	National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences (DHHS/NIH)
NIFA	National Institute of Food and Agriculture (USDA)
NIH	National Institutes of Health (DHHS)
NIOSH	National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (DHHS/CDC)
NISE Net	Nanoscale Informal Science Education Network (NSF)
NIST	National Institute of Standards and Technology (DOC)
NKI	Nanotechnology Knowledge Infrastructure (NSI)
NMI	Nanomaterial Measurement Infrastructure core research area
NNCO	National Nanotechnology Coordination Office
NNI	National Nanotechnology Initiative
NOM	natural organic matter
NP	nanoparticle
NRC	National Research Council of the National Academies
NSE	nanoscale science and engineering
NSET	Nanoscale Science, Engineering, and Technology Subcommittee of the NSTC Committee on Technology
NSF	National Science Foundation
NSI	Nanotechnology Signature Initiative
NSTC	National Science and Technology Council
NTP	National Toxicology Program (NIH/NIEHS)
NTRC	Nanotechnology Research Center (DHHS/NIOSH)
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
OSHA	Occupational Safety and Health Administration (DOL)
RAMM	Risk Assessment and Risk Management Methods core research area
RN	research need
TiO <sub>2</sub>	titanium dioxide
TNO	a Dutch nonprofit organization for applied scientific research
ToxCast™	toxicity forecasting research program of the National Center for Computational Toxicology (EPA)
UK	United Kingdom
USDA	U.S. Department of Agriculture
USGS	U.S. Geological Survey (DOI)

# S

# Appendix C: Research Centers and Networks

The following examples of research centers and networks are supported by several NEHI member agencies and provide opportunities and support for EHS research among investigators from a variety of disciplines and from different research sectors, including academia, industry, and government laboratories.

CENTER	SCOPE AND DESCRIPTION	COLLABORATORS
Center for Biological and Environmental Nanotechnology (CBEN)	CBEN at Rice University fosters the development of nanotechnology through an integrated set of programs that aim to address scientific, technological, environmental, human resource, and commercialization issues. This is an NSF Nanoscale Science and Engineering Center established in 2001. The center's research program is organized under three themes: (a) wet nanoscience integrating biology and nanochemistry; (b) nanomaterials in bioengineering; and (c) environmental applications, origin, and impacts of nanostructured materials. The center works in collaboration with industry and government laboratories in developing bench-top and pilot-scale proof-of- concept testbeds. The center fosters nanoscience and engineering education by implementing course modules for upper-level undergraduates and creating an interactive webpage. CBEN's industrial affiliate program enables member companies to send their senior scientists to the center for research residency and tutorial coursework. The center also offers a year-long graduate course on entrepreneurship in nanotechnology taught by an expert team.	Baylor College DuPont EPA FDA Georgia Institute of Technology Lockheed Martin Michigan State University NIEHS North Carolina State University Purdue University University of Houston University of Texas, Austin University of Virginia
Center for Environmental Implications of Nanotechnology (CEIN)	Created in 2008 as a Nanoscale Science and Engineering Center with funding from NSF and EPA, CEIN, headquartered at UCLA, conducts predictive toxicological science for engineered nanomaterials (ENMs). It unites a highly integrated, multidisciplinary, synergistic team with the skill set to solve the complexities of environmental science, eco-toxicity, materials science, nanotechnology, biological mechanisms of injury, and the environmental fate and transport of ENMs. The center aims to develop a broad-based model of predictive toxicology premised on quantitative structure–activity relationships (QSARs) and ENM injury paradigms at the biological level. This predictive scientific model will consider (i) the ENMs most likely to come into contact with the environment; (ii) their distribution in the environment; (iii) representative environmental life forms serving as early sentinels to monitor the spread and bioaccumulation of hazardous ENMs; (iv) biological screening assays allowing QSARs to be developed based on the bio-physico-chemical properties of ENMs; (v) high-throughput screening of a combinatorial ENM	Columbia University Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory Nanyang Technological University (Singapore) Sandia National Laboratory University of Bremen (Germany) University of California (UC) Davis UC Los Angeles UC Riverside UC Santa Barbara

### U.S. Government-Sponsored Collaborative nanoEHS Research Centers and Networks

# PROGRESS REVIEW ON THE NNI 2011 EHS RESEARCH STRATEGY

CENTER	SCOPE AND DESCRIPTION	COLLABORATORS
	library; and (vi) a self-learning computational system providing a framework for predictive risk analysis. These research activities are combined with educational programs informing the public, future generations of scientists, public agencies, and industrial stakeholders of the importance of safe implementation of nanotechnology in the environment. The overall impact will be to reduce uncertainty about the possible consequences of ENMs in the environment, while at the same time providing guidelines for their safe design to prevent environmental hazards. For more information, see <u>www.cein.ucla.edu/new</u> .	University College Dublin (Ireland) Universitat Rovira i Virgili (Spain) University of Texas at El Paso
Center for the Environmental Implications of NanoTechnology (CEINT)	CEINT, headquartered at Duke University, is dedicated to elucidating relationships between a vast array of nanomaterials— from natural to manufactured and those produced incidentally by human activities—and their potential environmental exposure, biological effects, and ecological consequences. Created in 2008 as a Nanoscale Science and Engineering Center with funding from NSF and EPA, CEINT performs fundamental research on the behavior of nanoscale materials in ecosystems that will provide guidance in assessing existing and future concerns surrounding the environmental implications of nanomaterials. For more information, see <u>www.ceint.duke.edu</u> .	Carnegie Mellon University Clemson University Duke University Howard University North Carolina State University Purdue University Rice University Stanford University University of Kentucky Virginia Tech
The Center for Nanoscale Science and Technology (CNST)	The CNST was established at NIST in 2007 as a unique national facility purposely designed to accelerate innovation in nanotechnology-based commerce. Its mission is to operate a national, shared resource for nanoscale fabrication and measurement and to develop innovative nanoscale measurement and fabrication capabilities in support of researchers from industry, academia, NIST, and other government agencies in advancing nanoscale technology from discovery to production. The center disseminates new nanoscale measurement methods by incorporating them into facility operations, collaborating and partnering with others, and providing international leadership in nanotechnology. For more information, see <u>www.nist.gov/cnst</u> .	Johns Hopkins University University of Maryland
EPA's Office of Research and Development (EPA-ORD) program on Chemical Safety for Sustainability (CSS)	The EPA-ORD program on CSS maintains a coordinated research program on the public health and environmental implications of emerging chemicals including engineered nanomaterials. The program includes extramural funding through grants and cooperative agreements, including two centers co-funded by EPA and NSF: CEIN and CEINT. The intramural program includes research in three EPA National Laboratories and two national centers, which is conducted at eight locations around the country. CSS research collaborates with OECD to generate protocols, data and risk assessment approaches to promote the safe development, use, and disposal/recycling of nanomaterials. Primary research goals are to define procedures for characterization of the physical and chemical properties of nanomaterials as manufactured and following interactions with environmental media through their life cycle; link the physical	CEIN CEINT CPSC NIEHS NSF OECD SIINN

# APPENDIX C: RESEARCH CENTERS AND NETWORKS

CENTER	SCOPE AND DESCRIPTION	COLLABORATORS
	and chemical properties of nanomaterials to potential releases along the product life cycle; understand and model nanomaterial fate, transport and transformation in the environment; and identify potential adverse effects to humans and sensitive environmental species. Key research objectives include the development of validated and qualified toxicity testing methods with known predictive potential for adverse effects on human health and the environment, the provision of informational tools to inform nanomaterial risk assessments, and the generation of safer nanomaterials by informing their design and use. For more information, see <u>epa.gov/research/docs/css-strap.pdf</u> .	
NIEHS Engineered Nanomaterials Grand Opportunity (Nano GO) Consortium	The NIEHS Nano GO consortium supports large-scale research projects that accelerate critical breakthroughs, early and applied research on cutting-edge technologies, and new approaches to improve the synergy and interactions among multi- and interdisciplinary research teams. The major goals of this program are to develop reliable and reproducible assays, methods, and models to predict exposure and biological response to nanomaterials across different systems and laboratories. The coordinated research efforts include diverse routes of exposure to nanomaterials and <i>in vitro</i> and <i>in vivo</i> models of exposure and response. For more information, see <u>ehp.niehs.nih.gov/1306866</u> .	California Nanosystems Institute at UCLA East Carolina University Indiana University School of Medicine Michigan State University NIOSH New Jersey Institute of Technology North Carolina State University Pacific Northwest National Laboratory UC Berkeley UC Davis University of Montana University of Montana University of Southern California University of Washington West Virginia University
Nanotechnology Characterization Laboratory (NCL)	The NCI established the NCL at its Frederick facility to provide critical infrastructure support to this rapidly developing field. Working in concert with NIST and FDA, NCL is accelerating the transition of basic nanotechnology-biotechnology research into clinical applications. NCL specifically aims to establish and standardize an analytical cascade for nanomaterial characterization; facilitate the clinical development and regulatory review of nanomaterials for cancer clinical trials; identify and characterize critical parameters related to nanomaterials' ADME and toxicity profiles of nanomaterials using animal models; examine the biological and functional characteristics of multicomponent/combinatorial aspects of nanoscaled therapeutic, molecular and clinical diagnostics, and detection platforms; engage and facilitate academic- and industrial-based knowledge sharing of nanomaterial performance data and behavior resulting from preclinical testing; and interface with other nanotechnology efforts.	ASTM International FDA The Foundation for Advanced Education in the Sciences Institute for Food Technologists NIST

# PROGRESS REVIEW ON THE NNI 2011 EHS RESEARCH STRATEGY

CENTER	SCOPE AND DESCRIPTION	COLLABORATORS
The Network for Computational Nanotechnology (NCN)	NCN was established in 2002 by NSF and has grown to be a national resource serving the research community in the emerging field of nanoscience and nanotechnology. NCN is producing new knowledge, simulation approaches, numerical algorithms, and open-source software to help realize the promise of nanoscience. NCN researchers are carrying out simulation and modeling research in three key fundamental research themes: nanoelectronics, nanoelectromechanical systems/nanofluidics, and nanobiology and medicine. The vision of NCN is to provide a future in which a diverse community, united by a common culture and enabled by a shared cyber-infrastructure, uses theory, modeling, and simulation to accelerate the transformation of nanoscience to nanotechnology. The NCN goals and objectives are to (a) carry out research that addresses key challenges through theory, modeling, and simulation; (b) provide professional leadership that brings communities together to identify challenges and move the field ahead; (c) develop new software tools needed for this new field; (d) lower barriers that limit the use of simulation by experimentalists and educators and equip them to be critical, effective users; (e) develop and deploy cyber-infrastructure that efficiently and robustly delivers services for simulation, education, and collaboration; (f) educate and develop a workforce to increase the number and diversity of students and faculty engaged in nanotechnology; (g) disseminate the results of NCN's work; and (h) engage the broader community through universally available web technology. For more information, see <u>nanohub.org/groups/ncn</u> .	Columbia University The Multimedia Educational Resource for Learning and Online Teaching (MERLOT) Norfolk State University Northwestern University Purdue University Stanford University UC Berkeley University of Florida at Gainesville University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign University of Texas at El Paso
NIEHS Centers for Nanotechnology Health Implications Research (NCNHIR) Consortium	The NCNHIR Consortium is an interdisciplinary program consisting of five U19 and three U01 Cooperative Centers along with other active grantees funded through NIEHS's nanoEHS program. NIEHS also established contractual agreements for nanomaterial characterization and an informational database to support this consortium. The overarching goals of these efforts are to gain fundamental understanding on how the physical and chemical properties of ENMs influence the interactions of ENMs with biological systems and to better understand potential health risks associated with ENM exposure. These findings will also guide safe development and use of nanotechnology.	Indiana University New Jersey Institute of Technology New York University Oregon State University Pacific Northwest National Laboratory RTI International UC Davis UC Los Angeles University of Michigan University of Montana University of Southern California University of Washington

# APPENDIX C: RESEARCH CENTERS AND NETWORKS

CENTER	SCOPE AND DESCRIPTION	COLLABORATORS
National Center for Toxicological Research (NCTR)	NCTR is the only FDA center located outside the Washington DC metropolitan area. The one-million square foot research campus in Jefferson, Arkansas, plays a critical role in the missions of FDA and DHHS to promote and protect public health. Regulatory science researchers, academics, and other regulatory science research organizations and groups from around the world investigate, learn, and train at the Federal facility.	NIEHS NTP Wright-Patterson Air Force Base
Nanotechnology Research Center (NTRC)	The NIOSH Nanotechnology Research Center (NTRC) was established in 2004 to develop, coordinate, and deliver an organized research program that identifies, investigates, and develops science-based solutions to workplace health and safety knowledge gaps in nanotechnology. NTRC provides overall strategic direction and coordination of the NIOSH nanotechnology cross-sector research program. NTRC is spread out over several NIOSH laboratories (Cincinnati, Morgantown, and Pittsburgh). Results from these research activities are also reported in current intelligence bulletins (CIBs), which are issued to disseminate new scientific information about occupational hazards. CIBs are distributed to representatives of academia, industry, organized labor, public health agencies, and public interest groups, as well as to Federal agencies responsible for ensuring the safety and health of workers. For more information, see <u>www.cdc.gov/niosh/topics/nanotech</u> .	Applied Research Associates College of Nanoscale Science and Engineering, University at Albany, State University of New York CPSC DOD The Hamner Institutes for Health Sciences Research Institute of Occupational Medicine Lovelace Respiratory Research Institute NIEHS NIST NSF NTP Partnership for European Research in Occupational Safety and Health OECD OSHA TNO
The Nanoscale Informal Science Education Network (NISE Net)	Originally launched in 2005 with support from the NSF, NISE Net is a national community of researchers and informal science educators dedicated to fostering public awareness, engagement, and understanding of nanoscale science, engineering, and technology. NISE Net aims to engage the public in advances in nanoscale research, capture the imagination of young people who may subsequently choose careers in nanoscale science and engineering (NSE), and foster new partnerships among research institutions and informal science centers. NISE Net partners have created a nation-wide set of annual events called NanoDays; developed dozens of interactive exhibits, media-based products, programs, and public forums based on NSE; generated new knowledge about the design for learning about NSE, its applications, and societal implications; produced a network that involves informal educators and researchers; and developed a website for professionals, <u>www.nisenet.org</u> , that includes several resources for educators and researchers, including a catalog of	Association of Science- Technology Centers Center for Nanotechnology in Society at Arizona State University Children's Museum of Houston Exploratorium The Franklin Institute Lawrence Hall of Science Museum of Life and Science Museum of Science Boston New York Hall of Science Oregon Museum of Science and Industry

# PROGRESS REVIEW ON THE NNI 2011 EHS RESEARCH STRATEGY

CENTER	SCOPE AND DESCRIPTION	COLLABORATORS
	educational products. NISE Net will continue to develop new educational products, deepen the involvement of current partnerships in nanoscale informal science education, and expand the number of partners overall to 300 organizations. The advisory committee, content steering committee, regional hubs, and other work groups develop collaborative relationships between museums and university-based NSE research centers, including Materials Research Science and Engineering Research Centers (MRSECs) and Nanoscale Science and Engineering Centers (NSECs). A Diversity, Equity, and Access group actively supports, fosters, and encourages NISE Net's efforts to reach diverse audiences with regard to geography, disability, gender, race/ethnicity, language, and income. Four types of research studies are being conducted: Partnership and Network, Institutional Change, Learning Progressions, and Evidence-Based Decision Making.	Sciencenter Materials Research Society Science Museum of Minnesota SRI International



- 1. Nanoscale Science, Engineering, and Technology Subcommittee of the Committee on Technology, *National Nanotechnology Initiative Environmental, Health, and Safety Research Strategy* (National Science and Technology Council, Washington, District of Columbia, 2011; http://www.nano.gov/sites/default/files/pub\_resource/nni\_2011\_ehs\_research\_strategy.pdf).
- 2. Nanoscale Science, Engineering, and Technology Subcommittee of the Committee on Technology, *The National Nanotechnology Initiative Supplement to the President's 2015 Budget* (National Science and Technology Council, Washington, District of Columbia, 2014; <u>http://www.nano.gov/sites/default/files/pub\_resource/nni\_fy15\_budget\_supplement.pdf</u>).
- 3. CEIN NSF cooperative agreement EF-0830117, CEINT NSF cooperative agreements EF-0830093 and DBI-1266252, <u>http://www.nsf.gov/awardsearch</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 4. President's Council of Advisors on Science and Technology, *Report to the President and Congress* on the Fourth Assessment of the National Nanotechnology Initiative (Executive Office of the President, Washington, District of Columbia, 2012; <u>http://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/</u> <u>files/microsites/ostp/PCAST\_2012\_Nanotechnology\_FINAL.pdf</u>).
- 5. National Research Council, *Review of Federal Strategy for Nanotechnology-Related Environmental, Health, and Safety Research* (The National Academies Press, Washington, District of Columbia, 2009; <u>http://www.nap.edu/catalog.php?record\_id=12559</u>).
- 6. U.S. Government Accountability Office, *Report to the Chairman, Committee on Environment and Public Works, U.S. Senate. Nanotechnology: Improved Performance Information Needed for Environmental, Health, and Safety Research* (Report no. GAO-12-427, U.S. Government Accountability Office, Washington, District of Columbia, 2012; <u>http://www.gao.gov/assets/600/591007.pdf</u>).
- 7. National Research Council, *Research Progress on Environmental, Health, and Safety Aspects of Engineered Nanomaterials* (The National Academies Press, Washington, District of Columbia, 2013; <u>http://www.nap.edu/catalog.php?record\_id=18475</u>).
- 8. NIST nanomaterial standard reference materials (SRMs) order request system, <u>https://www-s.nist.gov/srmors/browseMaterials.cfm?subkey=42&tableid=231</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 9. T. Klein, E. Buhr, K.-P. Johnsen, C. G. Frase, Traceable measurement of nanoparticle size using a scanning electron microscope in transmission mode (TSEM), *Meas. Sci. Technol.* **22**, 094002 (2011).
- 10. A. B. Stefaniak *et al.*, Nanoscale reference materials for environmental, health and safety measurements: Needs, gaps and opportunities, *Nanotoxicology* **7**, 1325–1337 (2013).
- 11. S. Elzey *et al.*, Real-time size discrimination and elemental analysis of gold nanoparticles using ES-DMA coupled to ICP-MS, *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* **405**, 2279–2288 (2013).
- 12. Working with the Nanotechnology Characterization Laboratory Assay cascade protocols, <u>http://ncl.cancer.gov/working\_assay-cascade.asp</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 13. Committee E56 on Nanotechnology Published standards under Subcommittee E56.02 on physical and chemical characterization, <u>http://www.astm.org/COMMIT/SUBCOMMIT/E5602.htm</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.

- 14. International Alliance for NanoEHS Harmonization, <u>http://www.nanoehsalliance.org</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 15. Protocols for measurement and dispersion of nanoparticles, <u>http://www.nist.gov/mml/np-measurement-protocols.cfm</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 16. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Guidance on Sample Preparation and Dosimetry for the Safety Testing of Manufactured Nanomaterials (Report no. ENV/JM/MONO(2012)40, OECD Publishing, Paris, France, 2012; <u>http://search.oecd.org/official</u> <u>documents/displaydocumentpdf/?cote=env/jm/mono(2012)40&doclanguage=en</u>).
- 17. ISO technical committees ISO/TC 229 Nanotechnologies, <u>http://www.iso.org/iso/iso\_technical\_committee?commid=381983</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 18. M. M. Dahm, D. E. Evans, M. K. Schubauer-Berigan, M. E. Birch, J. A. Deddens, Occupational exposure assessment in carbon nanotube and nanofiber primary and secondary manufacturers: mobile direct-reading sampling, *Ann. Occup. Hyg.* **57**, 328–344 (2013).
- 19. L.-M. Lo, K. H. Dunn, C. S.-J. Tsai, M. Ellenbecker, W. A. Heitbrink, *In-Depth Survey Report: Assessment of Nanoparticle Emissions from a Chemical Laboratory Using Carbon Nanotubes* (Report no. 356-18a, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, Washington, District of Columbia, 2013; <u>http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/surveyreports/pdfs/356-18a.pdf</u>).
- 20. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, *General Safe Practices for Working with Engineered Nanomaterials in Research Laboratories* (Report no. 2012-147, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, Cincinnati, Ohio, 2012; <u>http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/2012-147/pdfs/2012-147.pdf</u>).
- 21. M. M. Dahm, M. S. Yencken, M. K. Schubauer-Berigan, Exposure control strategies in the carbonaceous nanomaterial industry, *J. Occup. Environ. Med.* **53**, S68–S73 (2011).
- 22. K. Nontapot, V. Rastogi, J. A. Fagan, V. Reipa, Size and density measurement of core-shell Si nanoparticles by analytical ultracentrifugation, *Nanotechnology* **24**, 155701 (2013).
- 23. CPSC-I-12-0007: Interagency agreement between the U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission and the Engineering Laboratory, National Institute of Standards and Technology, U.S. Department of Commerce, *Characterization of Airborne Nanoparticles Released from Consumer Products* (2012; <u>http://www.cpsc.gov/PageFiles/93423/CPSC-I-12-0007.pdf</u>).
- 24. S. A. Pergantis, T. L. Jones-Lepp, E. M. Heithmar, Hydrodynamic chromatography online with single particle-inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry for ultratrace detection of metal-containing nanoparticles, *Anal. Chem.* **84**, 6454–6462 (2012).
- 25. A. J. Bednar *et al.*, Comparison of on-line detectors for field flow fractionation analysis of nanomaterials, *Talanta* **104**, 140–148 (2013).
- 26. Joint U.S. UK research program: Environmental behavior, bioavailability and effects of manufactured nanomaterials, <u>http://www.epa.gov/ncer/rfa/2009/2009\_uk\_nano.html</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 27. B. J. Majestic *et al.*, A review of selected engineered nanoparticles in the atmosphere: Sources, transformations, and techniques for sampling and analysis, *Int. J. Occup. Environ. Health* **16**, 488–507 (2010).

- 28. R. I. MacCuspie *et al.*, Challenges for physical characterization of silver nanoparticles under pristine and environmentally relevant conditions, *J. Environ. Monit.* **13**, 1212–1226 (2011).
- 29. J. M. Zook, S. E. Long, D. Cleveland, C. L. A. Geronimo, R. I. MacCuspie, Measuring silver nanoparticle dissolution in complex biological and environmental matrices using UV-visible absorbance, *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* **401**, 1993–2002 (2011).
- 30. A. M. Keene, K. M. Tyner, Analytical characterization of gold nanoparticle primary particles, aggregates, agglomerates, and agglomerated aggregates, *J. Nanopart. Res.* **13**, 3465–3481 (2011).
- 31. A. M. E. Badawy *et al.*, Impact of environmental conditions (pH, ionic strength, and electrolyte type) on the surface charge and aggregation of silver nanoparticles suspensions, *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **44**, 1260–1266 (2010).
- 32. D.-H. Tsai *et al.*, Adsorption and conformation of serum albumin protein on gold nanoparticles investigated using dimensional measurements and in situ spectroscopic methods, *Langmuir* **27**, 2464–2477 (2011).
- 33. CPSC-I-10-0006, MOD #1: Interagency agreement between the U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, *Simulated Worker Exposure to Silver from Use of Nano-Enabled Consumer Products* (2010; http://www.cpsc.gov//PageFiles/94730/CPSC-I-10-0006-mod1.pdf).
- 34. Y. Li *et al.*, Genotoxicity of silver nanoparticles evaluated using the Ames test and *in vitro* micronucleus assay, *Mutat. Res.* **745**, 4–10 (2012).
- 35. B. C. Nelson *et al.*, NIST gold nanoparticle reference materials do not induce oxidative DNA damage, *Nanotoxicology* **7**, 21–29 (2013).
- 36. D. C. Liu *et al.*, The human stratum corneum prevents small gold nanoparticle penetration and their potential toxic metabolic consequences, *J. Nanomater.* **2012** (2012).
- 37. CPSC-I-11-0016: Interagency agreement between the U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission and the National Science Foundation, (2011; <u>http://www.cpsc.gov/PageFiles/91680/CPSC-I-11-0016.pdf</u>).
- 38. ASTM E2525 08(2013) Standard test method for evaluation of the effect of nanoparticulate materials on the formation of mouse granulocyte macrophage colonies, <u>http://www.astm.org/Standards/E2525.htm</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 39. ISO/AWI TS 19006 DCFH-DA assay for evaluating nanoparticle-induced intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, <u>http://www.iso.org/iso/home/store/catalogue\_tc/catalogue\_detail.htm?csnumber=63697</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 40. ISO 29701:2010 Endotoxin test on nanomaterial samples for *in vitro* systems Limulus amebocyte lysate (LAL) test, <u>http://www.iso.org/iso/iso\_catalogue\_catalogue\_tc/catalogue\_detail.htm?csnumber=45640</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 41. CPSC-I-08-0008: Interagency agreement between the U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission and the National Institute of Standards and Technology, *Exposure and Fire Hazard Assessment of Nanoparticles in Fire Safe Consumer Products* (2009; <u>http://www.cpsc.gov/PageFiles/87386/CPSC-I-08-0008.pdf</u>).

- 42. CPSC-I-11-0007: Interagency agreement between the U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission and the National Institute of Standards and Technology, (2011; <u>http://www.cpsc.gov/PageFiles/</u><u>92400/CPSC-I-11-0007.pdf</u>).
- 43. CPSC-I-12-0009: Interagency agreement between the U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission and the National Institute of Standards and Technology, *Exposure Assessment of Carbon Nanotubes in Sports Equipment, Phase II* (2012; <u>http://www.cpsc.gov/PageFiles/94333/CPSC-I-12-0009.pdf</u>).
- 44. M. Zammarano *et al.*, Nanoparticles in flame-retardant coatings for flexible polyurethane foams: effects on flammability and nanoparticle release, *MPM. Conf. Publ.* **5**, 93–102 (2013).
- 45. T. Nguyen *et al.*, Fate of nanoparticles during life cycle of polymer nanocomposites, *J. Phys.: Conf. Ser.* **304**, 012060 (2011).
- 46. W. McKinney *et al.*, Pulmonary and cardiovascular responses of rats to inhalation of a commercial antimicrobial spray containing titanium dioxide nanoparticles, *Inhal. Toxicol.* **24**, 447–457 (2012).
- 47. B. T. Chen *et al.*, Nanoparticles-containing spray can aerosol: Characterization, exposure assessment, and generator design, *Inhal. Toxicol.* **22**, 1072–1082 (2010).
- 48. ILSI NanoRelease Consumer Products, <u>http://www.ilsi.org/ResearchFoundation/RSIA/Pages/</u> <u>NanoRelease1.aspx</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 49. Researchers examine nanoparticles impact on fuel emissions and air pollution, <u>http://www.epa.gov/AMD/Research/RIA/nano.html</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 50. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *Comprehensive Environmental Assessment: A meta-Assessment Approach to Increase Effectiveness of Risk Management and Research Planning* (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Research Triangle Park, North Carolina; <u>http://www.epa.gov/</u><u>nanoscience/files/CEAPrecis.pdf</u>).
- 51. Interagency agreement between the National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences and the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, *Comprehensive Toxicological Assessment of Occupationally Relevant Exposure* (2009; <u>http://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/ntp/about\_ntp/bsc/2009/july/niehs\_ntp\_iag.pdf</u>).
- 52. ToxCast<sup>™</sup> Advancing the next generation of chemical safety evaluation, <u>http://www.epa.gov/</u> <u>ncct/toxcast</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 53. Safe nano design workshop presentations, <u>http://www.sunycnse.com/Outreach/NIOSH</u> <u>Presentations.aspx</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 54. W. Marsh, Introduction to Nanomaterials and Occupational Safety and Health (Rice University, 2010; <u>https://www.osha.gov/dte/grant\_materials/fy10/sh-21008-10/student\_manual.pdf</u>).
- 55. Nanotechnology Health effects and workplace assessments and controls, <u>https://www.osha.gov/dsg/nanotechnology/nanotech\_healtheffects.html</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 56. D. Brouwer *et al.*, Harmonization of measurement strategies for exposure to manufactured nanoobjects; report of a workshop, *Ann. Occup. Hyg.* **56**, 1–9 (2012).
- 57. Consumer Products Inventory An inventory of nanotechnology-based consumer products introduced on the market, <u>http://www.nanotechproject.org/cpi</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.

- 58. J. M. Unrine *et al.*, Evidence for bioavailability of Au nanoparticles from soil and biodistribution within earthworms (*Eisenia fetida*), *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **44**, 8308–8313 (2010).
- 59. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Proposed data collections submitted for public comment and recommendations, *Federal Register* **77**, 58396–58397 (2012).
- 60. A. Erdely *et al.*, Cross-talk between lung and systemic circulation during carbon nanotube respiratory exposure. Potential biomarkers, *Nano Lett.* **9**, 36–43 (2009).
- 61. CPSC-I-12-0012: Interagency agreement between the U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission and the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, *Joint CPSC and FDA Nanotechnology Regulatory Science - Research Food Contact Products Containing Nanomaterials Study* (2012; <u>http://www.cpsc.gov/PageFiles/130413/CPSC-I-12-0012-mod1.pdf</u>).
- 62. ILSI NanoRelease Food Additive, <u>http://www.ilsi.org/ResearchFoundation/RSIA/Pages/</u> <u>FoodAdditiveMainPage.aspx</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 63. CPSC-I-12-0014: Interagency agreement between the U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission and the National Science Foundation, *Consumer Exposure to Airborne Nanoparticles Released from Nanotechnology-Enabled Clothing* (2012; <u>http://www.cpsc.gov/PageFiles/130086/CPSC-I-12-</u> 0014.pdf).
- 64. NIEHS Nano Exposure workshop, <u>http://www.niehs.nih.gov/about/visiting/events/pastmtg/2013/</u> <u>nano-exposure/index.cfm</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 65. CPSC-I-10-0009: Interagency agreement between the U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *Exposure Assessment of Silver Nanoparticles in select Children's Consumer Products* (2010; <u>http://www.cpsc.gov/PageFiles/85760/CPSC-I-10-0009.pdf</u>).
- 66. Y. Nazarenko, H. Zhen, T. Han, P. J. Lioy, G. Mainelis, Potential for inhalation exposure to engineered nanoparticles from nanotechnology-based cosmetic powders, *Environ. Health Perspect.* **120**, 885–892 (2012).
- 67. A. S. Laney, L. A. McCauley, M. K. Schubauer-Berigan, Workshop summary: Epidemiologic design strategies for studies of nanomaterial workers, *J. Occup. Environ. Med.* **53**, S87–90 (2011).
- 68. M. Riediker *et al.*, A road map toward a globally harmonized approach for occupational health surveillance and epidemiology in nanomaterial workers, *J. Occup. Environ. Med.* **54**, 1214–1223 (2012).
- 69. T. T. Schug, S. S. Nadadur, A. F. Johnson, Nano GO Consortium—A team science approach to assess engineered nanomaterials: Reliable assays and methods, *Environmental Health Perspectives* **121**, a514–a516 (2013).
- 70. J. C. Bonner *et al.*, Interlaboratory evaluation of rodent pulmonary responses to engineered nanomaterials: The NIEHS Nano GO Consortium, *Environ. Health Perspect.* **121**, 676–682 (2013).
- 71. T. Xia *et al.*, Interlaboratory evaluation of *in vitro* cytotoxicity and inflammatory responses to engineered nanomaterials: The NIEHS Nano GO Consortium, *Environ. Health Perspect.* **121**, 683–690 (2013).
- 72. A. E. Nel *et al.*, A multi-stakeholder perspective on the use of alternative test strategies for nanomaterial safety assessment, *ACS Nano* **7**, 6422–6433 (2013).

- 73. R. Damoiseaux *et al.*, No time to lose High throughput screening to assess nanomaterial safety, *Nanoscale* **3**, 1345–1360 (2011).
- 74. A. Nel *et al.*, Nanomaterial toxicity testing in the 21st century: Use of a predictive toxicological approach and high-throughput screening, *Acc. Chem. Res.* **46**, 607–621 (2013).
- 75. M. A. Dobrovolskaia *et al.*, Nanoparticle size and surface charge determine effects of PAMAM dendrimers on human platelets *in vitro*, *Mol. Pharmaceutics* **9**, 382–393 (2012).
- 76. M. E. Stratmeyer, P. L. Goering, V. M. Hitchins, T. H. Umbreit, What we know and don't know about the bioeffects of nanoparticles: Developing experimental approaches for safety assessment, *Biomed. Microdevices* **12**, 569–573 (2010).
- 77. N. L. Guo *et al.*, Multiwalled carbon nanotube-induced gene signatures in the mouse lung: potential predictive value for human lung cancer risk and prognosis, *J. Toxicol. Environ. Health Part* A **75**, 1129–1153 (2012).
- 78. Safety of manufactured nanomaterials: Sponsorship Programme for the testing of manufactured nanomaterials, <u>http://www.oecd.org/science/nanosafety/sponsorshipprogrammeforthetesting</u> <u>ofmanufacturednanomaterials.htm</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 79. E. I. Maurer, M. Sharma, J. J. Schlager, S. M. Hussain, Systematic analysis of silver nanoparticle ionic dissolution by tangential flow filtration: Toxicological implications, *Nanotoxicology* **8**, 718–727 (2014).
- A. M. Schrand, J. J. Schlager, L. Dai, S. M. Hussain, Preparation of cells for assessing ultrastructural localization of nanoparticles with transmission electron microscopy, *Nat. Protoc.* 5, 744–757 (2010).
- 81. J. R. Roberts *et al.*, Pulmonary and cardiovascular responses of rats to inhalation of silver nanoparticles, *J. Toxicol. Environ. Health Part A* **76**, 651–668 (2013).
- 82. F. R. Cassee *et al.*, Exposure, health and ecological effects review of engineered nanoscale cerium and cerium oxide associated with its use as a fuel additive, *Crit. Rev. Tox.* **41**, 213–229 (2011).
- 83. T. M. Sager *et al.*, Effect of multi-walled carbon nanotube surface modification on bioactivity in the C57BL/6 mouse model, *Nanotoxicology* **8**, 317–327 (2014).
- 84. N. Li, A. E. Nel, Feasibility of biomarker studies for engineered nanoparticles: What can be learned from air pollution research, *J. Occup. Environ. Med.* **53**, S74–S79 (2011).
- 85. D. Mukherjee, D. Botelho, A. J. Gow, J. Zhang, P. G. Georgopoulos, Computational multiscale toxicodynamic modeling of silver and carbon nanoparticle effects on mouse lung function, *PLoS ONE* **8**, e80917 (2013).
- 86. S. Lin, Y. Zhao, A. E. Nel, S. Lin, Zebrafish: An *in vivo* model for nano EHS studies, *Small* **9**, 1608–1618 (2013).
- 87. S. M. Hussain *et al.*, Toxicity evaluation for safe use of nanomaterials: Recent achievements and technical challenges, *Adv. Mater.* **21**, 1549–1559 (2009).
- 88. C. M. Sabliov, T. Morgan, J. Blumberg, C. Astete, M. Trif, Food matrices: Oral delivery of bioactives with polymeric nanoparticles: Bioavailability and tissue distribution of delivered active ingredient, nanoparticle translocation, and overall nanoparticle bioreactivity (2010), <u>http://www.csrees.usda.gov/nea/technology/pdfs/10\_12\_10\_posters.pdf</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.

- 89. A. Wang, S. M. Marinakos, A. R. Badireddy, C. M. Powers, K. A. Houck, Characterization of physicochemical properties of nanomaterials and their immediate environments in high-throughput screening of nanomaterial biological activity, *Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Nanomed. Nanobiotechnol.* **5**, 430–448 (2013).
- 90. Evaluating the safety of engineered nanomaterials, <u>http://www.niehs.nih.gov/research/supported/recovery/critical/nano</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 91. Nano consortium gathers at NIEHS, <u>http://www.niehs.nih.gov/news/newsletter/2012/3/spotlight-nano</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 92. NTP Nanotechnology Safety Initiative, <u>http://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/?objectid=7E6B19D0-BDB5-82F8-FAE73011304F542A</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 93. P. K. Dutta, J. W. Waldman, J. F. Rathman, C. Yang, Impact of the physiochemical properties of engineered nanomaterials on their cellular uptake and potential toxicity in the gastrointestinal tract environment (2010), <u>http://www.csrees.usda.gov/nea/technology/pdfs/10\_12\_10\_posters.pdf</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 94. N. Sadrieh *et al.*, Lack of significant dermal penetration of titanium dioxide from sunscreen formulations containing nano- and submicron-size TiO<sub>2</sub> particles, *Toxicol. Sci.* **115**, 156–166 (2010).
- 95. N. V. Gopee *et al.*, Quantitative determination of skin penetration of PEG-coated CdSe quantum dots in dermabraded but not intact SKH-1 hairless mouse skin, *Toxicol. Sci.* **111**, 37–48 (2009).
- 96. L. M. Sargent *et al.*, Promotion of lung adenocarcinoma following inhalation exposure to multiwalled carbon nanotubes, *Part. Fibre Toxicol.* **11**, 3 (2014).
- 97. V. Castranova, A. Hubbs, D. Porter, R. Mercer, Persistent pulmonary fibrosis, migration to the pleura, and other preliminary new findings after subchronic exposure to multi-walled carbon nanotubes, <u>http://blogs.cdc.gov/niosh-science-blog/2009/03/19/nano-2</u>; accessed 8 April 2014.
- 98. CBET Funding Environmental Health and Safety of Nanotechnology, <u>http://www.nsf.gov/</u> <u>funding/pgm\_summ.jsp?pims\_id=501030&org=CBET&from=home</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 99. NIEHS launches NanoHealth Signature Program, <u>http://www.niehs.nih.gov/news/newsletter/</u>2010/august/science-nanohealth.cfm; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 100. L. K. Braydich-Stolle *et al.*, Nanosized aluminum altered immune function, *ACS Nano* **4**, 3661–3670 (2010).
- 101. N. M. Schaeublin *et al.*, Does shape matter? Bioeffects of gold nanomaterials in a human skin cell model, *Langmuir* **28**, 3248–3258 (2012).
- 102. L. Wang *et al.*, Carbon nanotubes induce malignant transformation and tumorigenesis of human lung epithelial cells, *Nano Lett.* **11**, 2796–2803 (2011).
- 103. CPSC-I-10-0003: Interagency agreement between the U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, *Pulmonary Effects of Titanium Dioxide Nanoparticles Released from Aerosol Spray Products* (2009; http://www.cpsc.gov/PageFiles/86563/CPSC-I-10-0003.pdf).
- 104. H. Clewell, Risk assessments for engineered nanomaterials: Addressing the unique challenges (2012), <u>http://www.toxicology.org/isot/ss/nano/docs/Nano\_Webinar\_July2012.pdf</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.

- 105. NSF award 0647452: Center for Biological and Environmental Nanotechnology, <u>http://www.nsf.gov/awardsearch/showAward?AWD\_ID=0647452&HistoricalAwards=false;</u> accessed 30 April 2014.
- 106. International Council on Nanotechnology, *Advancing the Eco-Responsible Design and Disposal of Engineered Nanomaterials: An International Workshop* (Report no. 5, Rice University, Houston, Texas, 2010; <u>http://cohesion.rice.edu/centersandinst/icon/emplibrary/ICON\_Eco-Responsible\_Design\_and\_Disposal%20of\_Engineered\_Nanomaterials\_Full\_Report.pdf</u>).
- 107. Terrestrial ecosystems impact and hazard assessment, <u>http://www.cein.ucla.edu/new/p17.php</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 108. CEINT mesocosm facility, http://www.ceint.duke.edu/mesocosm; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 109. D. Cleveland *et al.*, Pilot estuarine mesocosm study on the environmental fate of silver nanomaterials leached from consumer products, *Sci. Total Environ.* **421–422**, 267–272 (2012).
- 110. CPSC-I-11-0011: Interagency agreement between the U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *Risk Assessment of Manufactured Nanoparticles Used in Consumer Products* (2011; <u>http://www.cpsc.gov/PageFiles/90878/CPSC-I-11-0011.pdf</u>).
- 111. E. J. Petersen *et al.*, Potential release pathways, environmental fate, and ecological risks of carbon nanotubes, *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **45**, 9837–9856 (2011).
- 112. J. Gigault, V. A. Hackley, Differentiation and characterization of isotopically modified silver nanoparticles in aqueous media using asymmetric-flow field flow fractionation coupled to optical detection and mass spectrometry, *Anal. Chim. Acta.* **763**, 57–66 (2013).
- 113. Standard reference materials order request system: SRM 1646a Estuarine Sediment, <u>https://www-s.nist.gov/srmors/view\_detail.cfm?srm=1646a</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 114. J. M. Johnston, M. Lowry, S. Beaulieu, E. Bowles, *State-of-the-Science Report on Predictive Models* and Modeling Approaches for Characterizing and Evaluating Exposure to Nanomaterials (Report no. EPA/600/R-10/129, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Athens, Georgia, 2010; <u>http://nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyPDF.cgi?Dockey=P1008R2S.PDF</u>).
- 115. G. V. Lowry *et al.*, Long-term transformation and fate of manufactured Ag nanoparticles in a simulated large scale freshwater emergent wetland, *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **46**, 7027–7036 (2012).
- 116. E. M. Hotze, T. Phenrat, G. V. Lowry, Nanoparticle aggregation: Challenges to understanding transport and reactivity in the environment, *J. Environ. Qual.* **39**, 1909–1924 (2010).
- 117. J. G. Coleman *et al.*, Assessing the fate and effects of nano aluminum oxide in the terrestrial earthworm, *Eisenia fetida*, *Environ*. *Toxicol*. *Chem*. **29**, 1575–1580 (2010).
- 118. M. R. Wiesner, A risk forecasting framework for nanomaterials (2011), <u>http://www.nano.gov/sites/</u> <u>default/files/pub\_resource/wiesner\_breakout1.pdf</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 119. E. Lombi *et al.*, Transformation of four silver/silver chloride nanoparticles during anaerobic treatment of wastewater and post-processing of sewage sludge, *Environ. Pollut.* **176**, 193–197 (2013).
- 120. S.-R. Chae *et al.*, Heterogeneities in fullerene nanoparticle aggregates affecting reactivity, bioactivity, and transport, *ACS Nano* **4**, 5011–5018 (2010).

- 121. G. V. Lowry, K. B. Gregory, S. C. Apte, J. R. Lead, Transformations of nanomaterials in the environment, *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **46**, 6893–6899 (2012).
- 122. M. A. Chappell *et al.*, Simultaneous dispersion–dissolution behavior of concentrated silver nanoparticle suspensions in the presence of model organic solutes, *Chemosphere* **84**, 1108–1116 (2011).
- 123. C. A. Impellitteri *et al.*, Transformation of silver nanoparticles in fresh, aged, and incinerated biosolids, *Water Res.* **47**, 3878–3886 (2013).
- 124. J. Virkutyte, S. R. Al-Abed, D. D. Dionysiou, Depletion of the protective aluminum hydroxide coating in TiO<sub>2</sub>-based sunscreens by swimming pool water ingredients, *Chem. Eng. J.* **191**, 95–103 (2012).
- 125. A. Thiéry *et al.*, Effects of metallic and metal oxide nanoparticles in aquatic and terrestrial food chains. Biomarkers responses in invertebrates and bacteria, *Int. J. Nanotechnol.* **9**, 181–203 (2012).
- 126. E. J. Petersen, T. B. Henry, Methodological considerations for testing the ecotoxicity of carbon nanotubes and fullerenes: Review, *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* **31**, 60–72 (2012).
- 127. A. J. Kennedy *et al.*, Impact of organic carbon on the stability and toxicity of fresh and stored silver nanoparticles, *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **46**, 10772–10780 (2012).
- 128. D. Britt, J. McLean, A. Anderson, W. Johnson, B. Gale, Engineered nanoparticles in agricultural settings (2011), <u>http://www.csrees.usda.gov/nea/technology/pdfs/11 nanoscale materials</u> evironment\_safety.pdf; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 129. Environmental Implications and Ecotoxicological Assessment of Manufactured Nanomaterials: Gallium and Indium (Purdue University, West Lafayette, Indiana, 2009; <u>http://water.usgs.gov/</u> wrri/09grants/progress/2009IN243B.pdf).
- 130. A. D. Dybowska *et al.*, Synthesis of isotopically modified ZnO nanoparticles and their potential as nanotoxicity tracers, *Environ. Pollut.* **159**, 266–273 (2011).
- 131. M.-N. Croteau, S. K. Misra, S. N. Luoma, E. Valsami-Jones, Silver bioaccumulation dynamics in a freshwater invertebrate after aqueous and dietary exposures to nanosized and ionic Ag, *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **45**, 6600–6607 (2011).
- 132. K. Hede, How are nanomaterials affecting the environment—and us? With a new grant renewal, CEINT researchers seek answers, <u>http://www.pratt.duke.edu/news/15-million-grant-fund-further-study-nanotechnologys-environmental-impact</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 133. NIFA grant project UTA00795: Impact, detection and tracking of nanoparticles in agriculture: A focus on crops and associated soil microbes, <u>http://fsrio.nal.usda.gov/nal\_web/fsrio/printresults.</u> <u>php?ID=5790</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 134. NSF award 1133425: Quantifying environmental risks and opportunities for nanoscale LiFePO<sub>4</sub> and LiMnO<sub>2</sub> cathode battery technologies at end-of-life, <u>http://www.nsf.gov/awardsearch/show</u> <u>Award?AWD\_ID=1133425&HistoricalAwards=false</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 135. C. M. Schauerman, M. J. Ganter, C. W. Babbitt, R. P. Raffaelle, B. J. Landi, Recycling single-wall carbon nanotube anodes from lithium ion batteries, *J. Mater. Chem.* **22**, 12008–12015 (2012).

- 136. Capstone meeting: Risk management methods and ethical, legal, and societal implications of nanotechnology, <u>http://www.nano.gov/events/meetings-workshops/capstone</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 137. Stakeholder perspectives on the perception, assessment, and management of the potential risks of nanotechnology, <u>http://www.nano.gov/R3Workshop</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 138. E. D. Kuempel, C. L. Geraci, P. A. Schulte, Risk assessment and risk management of nanomaterials in the workplace: Translating research to practice, *Ann. Occup. Hyg.* **56**, 491–505 (2012).
- 139. P. A. Schulte, V. Murashov, R. Zumwalde, E. D. Kuempel, C. L. Geraci, Occupational exposure limits for nanomaterials: State of the art, *J. Nanopart. Res.* **12**, 1971–1987 (2010).
- 140. Occupational Safety and Health Administration, OSHA Fact Sheet: Working Safely with Nanomaterials (Occupational Safety and Health Administration, 2013; <u>https://www.osha.gov/</u> <u>Publications/OSHA\_FS-3634.pdf</u>).
- 141. S. C. Gordon *et al.*, Workshop report: Strategies for setting occupational exposure limits for engineered nanomaterials, *Regul. Toxicol. Pharm.* **68**, 305–311 (2014).
- 142. Y. Cohen, R. Rallo, R. Liu, H. H. Liu, *In silico* analysis of nanomaterials hazard and risk, *Acc. Chem. Res.* **46**, 802–812 (2013).
- 143. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *Conditional Registration of HeiQ AGS-20 as a Materials Preservative in Textiles* (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2011; <u>http://www.regulations.gov/</u> <u>contentStreamer?objectId=0900006480f787d3&disposition=attachment&contentType=pdf</u>).
- 144. M. A. Hamburg, FDA's approach to regulation of products of nanotechnology, *Science* **336**, 299–300 (2012).
- 145. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, *Approaches to Safe Nanotechnology Managing the Health and Safety Concerns Associated with Engineered Nanomaterials* (Report no. 2009-125, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, Cincinnati, Ohio, 2009; <a href="http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/2009-125/pdfs/2009-125.pdf">http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/2009-125/pdf</a>).
- 146. Nanomaterial case studies: Nanoscale titanium dioxide in water treatment and in topical sunscreen, <u>http://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/cfm/recordisplay.cfm?deid=230972</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 147. Nanomaterial case study: Nanoscale silver in disinfectant spray, <u>http://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/nano/</u> recordisplay.cfm?deid=241665; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 148. Comprehensive environmental assessment applied to multiwalled carbon nanotube flameretardant coatings in upholstery textiles: A case study presenting priority research gaps for future risk assessments, <u>http://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/nano/recordisplay.cfm?deid=253010</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 149. S. Gavankar, S. Suh, A. F. Keller, Life cycle assessment at nanoscale: Review and recommendations, *Int. J. Life Cycle Assess.* **17**, 295–303 (2012).
- 150. J. A. Steevens *et al.*, in *Towards Efficient Designing of Safe Nanomaterials*, RSC Nanoscience & Nanotechnology. (Royal Society of Chemistry, 2012), pp. 314–346.
- 151. A. J. Kennedy *et al.*, Fate and toxicity of CuO nanospheres and nanorods used in Al/CuO nanothermites before and after combustion, *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **47**, 11258–11267 (2013).

- 152. Research to support comprehensive environmental assessments of nanomaterials, <u>http://www.epa.gov/nanoscience/quickfinder/risks.htm</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 153. Applying PtD to the safe handling of engineered nanomaterials, <u>http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/</u> programs/manuf/noragoals/projects/927ZJMW.html; accessed 1 May 2014.
- 154. V. Murashov, P. Schulte, J. Howard, Progression of occupational risk management with advances in nanomaterials, *J. Occup. Environ. Hyg.* **9**, D12–22 (2012).
- 155. I. Linkov, M. E. Bates, L. J. Canis, T. P. Seager, J. M. Keisler, A decision-directed approach for prioritizing research into the impact of nanomaterials on the environment and human health, *Nat. Nano.* **6**, 784–787 (2011).
- 156. J. A. Shatkin *et al.*, Nano risk analysis: Advancing the science for nanomaterials risk management, *Risk Anal.* **30**, 1680–1687 (2010).
- 157. N. Pidgeon, B. Harthorn, T. Satterfield, Nanotechnology risk perceptions and communication: Emerging technologies, emerging challenges, *Risk Anal.* **31**, 1694–1700 (2011).
- 159. Household Products Database Health and safety information on household products, <u>http://www.householdproducts.nlm.nih.gov/index.htm</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 160. Communities of Research U.S.-EU: Bridging NanoEHS Research, <u>http://us-eu.org/communities-of-research</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 161. Webinar: NNI launches the EHS research strategy, <u>http://www.nano.gov/node/696</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 162. J. P. Holdren, C. R. Sunstein, I. A. Siddiqui, *Memorandum for the Heads of Executive Departments and Agencies [regarding] Principles for Regulation and Oversight of Emerging Technologies* (Washington, District of Columbia, 2011; <u>http://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/omb/inforeg/for-agencies/Principles-for-Regulation-and-Oversight-of-Emerging-Technologies-new.pdf</u>).
- 163. J. P. Holdren, C. R. Sunstein, I. A. Siddiqui, *Memorandum for the Heads of Executive Departments and Agencies [regarding] Regulation and Oversight of Applications of Nanotechnology and Nanomaterials* (Washington, District of Columbia, 2011; <u>http://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/</u> default/files/omb/inforeg/for-agencies/nanotechnology-regulation-and-oversight-principles.pdf).
- 164. iCEINT International Consortium for the Environmental Implication of Nanotechnology, <u>http://www.i-ceint.org/?lang=en</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 165. CPSC's work with China, <u>http://www.cpsc.gov/en/Business--Manufacturing/International/</u> International-Regions/CPSCs-Program-Plan---China; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 166. Science and technology policy: Nanotechnology, <u>http://www.oecd.org/sti/nano</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.

- 167. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, *Planning Guide for Public Engagement* and Outreach in Nanotechnology (OECD Publishing, Paris, France, 2012; <u>http://www.oecd.org/sti/</u> <u>biotech/49961768.pdf</u>).
- 168. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, *Responsible Development of Nanotechnology: Summary Results from a Survey Activity* (Report no. DSTI/STP/NANO(2013)9/FINAL, OECD Publishing, Paris, France, 2013; <u>http://search.oecd.org/officialdocuments/displaydocumentpdf/?cote=dsti/stp/nano%282013%299/final&doclanguage=en</u>).
- 169. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, *Regulatory Frameworks for Nanotechnology in Foods and Medical Products: Summary Results of a Survey Activity* (Report no. 4, OECD Publishing, Paris, France, 2013; <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5k47w4vsb4s4-en</u>).
- 170. U.S.-EU workshop: Bridging NanoEHS Research Efforts, <u>http://www.nano.gov/node/600</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 171. U.S.-EU Bridging NanoEHS Research Efforts A joint workshop 2012, <u>http://www.nano.gov/node/</u><u>870</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 172. 2013 U.S.-EU Bridging NanoEHS Research Efforts workshop, <u>http://www.nano.gov/node/1034</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.
- 173. Versailles Project on Advanced Materials and Standards (VAMAS), <u>http://www.vamas.org/</u> <u>index.html</u>; accessed 30 April 2014.

National Science and Technology Council Committee on Technology Subcommittee on Nanoscale Science, Engineering, and Technology

www.nano.gov